Insights into left ventricular dyssynchrony: Consequences for myocardial function and response to cardiac resynchronization therapy

John Moene Aalen MD

Institute for Surgical Research and Department of Cardiology Oslo University Hospital, Rikshospitalet, Oslo, Norway

© John Moene Aalen, 2021

Series of dissertations submitted to the Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo

ISBN 978-82-8377-830-4

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without permission.

Cover: Hanne Baadsgaard Utigard. Print production: Reprosentralen, University of Oslo.

CONTENTS

1. AC	KNOWLEDGMENTS	4
2. LIST OF PAPERS		
3. ABBREVIATIONS		
4. IN	4. INTRODUCTION	
	Dyssynchrony	9
	Left bundle branch block	9
	Afterload1	4
	Myocardial work1	5
	Heart failure1	6
	Cardiac resynchronization therapy1	8
5. All	VIS OF THESIS	2
	General aims2	2
	Specific aims	2
6. MATERIAL		3
	Experimental studies2	3
	Clinical studies2	3
7. METHODS		5
	Experimental studies (Paper 1-2)2	5
	Clinical studies (Paper 1-3)2	8
	Data analysis3	0
	i. Experimental data	0
	ii. Clinical data	1
	Statistics3	4
8. SU	MMARY OF RESULTS	5
	Paper 1	5
	Paper 2	7
	Paper 3 3	9
9. DI	SCUSSION	3
	The effect of afterload on left ventricular systolic function	3

Potential effects and implications of chronic elevated afterload in left bundle block	e branch 44
Mechanisms of abnormal septal motion in left bundle branch block	45
Septal contractile function and its relation to left ventricular systolic function	າ47
Septal viability	
Cardiac resynchronization therapy response	
Myocardial work in left bundle branch block	54
Methodological considerations	54
Ethical considerations	57
10. CONCLUSION	59
11. REFERENCES	60

1. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The present work was carried out at the Institute for Surgical Research and Department of Cardiology, Oslo University Hospital, Rikshospitalet from 2015 to 2020.

First, I would like to thank my main supervisor Professor Otto A. Smiseth. It has been a great privilege to be supervised by a world-renowned researcher in cardiac physiology. Otto has always taken the time to supervise and discuss whenever it has been needed despite his busy schedule. His extraordinary skills, everlasting enthusiasm, clear ambitions and endurance have been fundamental to this project and, not least, a huge inspiration.

Second, I would like to thank my co-supervisors. Teaching and discussions with Espen W. Remme has been essential to this PhD and especially the experimental parts of the two first papers. Einar Hopp has made an indispensable contribution with his leading expertise in cardiac magnetic resonance imaging as well as his optimistic attitude. Erik Kongsgård has been a key person in the clinical part of the project and, with his longtime expertise in cardiac resynchronization therapy, he has provided important input to make it clinically relevant and feasible.

Associate Professor Helge Skulstad has taught me important surgical and echocardiographic skills. His door has always been open, which I several times have taken the advantage of. Professor Thor Edvardsen has been an important contributor to the clinical project through his position as head of both the Department of Cardiology and the Center for Cardiological Innovation.

I am grateful to my fellow researchers and colleagues for their contributions and friendship. Petter Storsten introduced me to the group and the life as a PhD-student. He played an essential role in the first paper and has been a good friend and travel partner. Camilla Kjellstad Larsen has been my "partner in crime" during the clinical project and has been one of the most important contributors to this project. Camilla is easy to work with and we have shared numerous joys and frustrations. Kari Melberg has done a great job with patient recruitment and has been a good conversation partner. Ole Jakob Sletten started later, but has become a good colleague and friend. Espen Bøe, Øyvind Senstad Andersen and Magnus Krogh have all played central roles in different periods of the PhD.

I would like to thank our international partners, in particular Professor Jens-Uwe Voigt, Professor Erwan Donal, Jürgen Duchenne and Elena Galli, who have been essential to the clinical part of the project. Furthermore, I would like to thank Jan Gunnar Fjeld, Anders Opdahl, Jacob Bergsland, Hans Henrik Odland, Stian Ross, Jørg Saberniak, Erik Lyseggen, Torbjørn Holm, Aurora Pamplona, Per Anton Sirnes, Eigil Samset, Jonny Hisdal and Ola Gjesdal for their important contributions to different parts of the project.

I am grateful to the Institute for Surgical Research and its leader Professor Håvard Attramadal for office and operating theater facilities as well as a good environment. Furthermore, I am grateful to the Norwegian Health Association for funding, and to the University of Oslo for research fellowship and support from the Inger and John Fredriksen fund.

Finally, I would like to thank my family. My father Odd, both for being a faithful supporter and for playing an essential role in the project with statistical advice. My mother Marit and my parents in law Inger-Lise and Per Tore, for their support and encouragement. Most importantly, my deepest appreciation goes to my wonderful wife Carine. This would not have been possible without her unconditional support.

2. LIST OF PAPERS

1. Afterload Hypersensitivity in Patients With Left Bundle Branch Block.

Aalen J, Storsten P, Remme EW, Sirnes PA, Gjesdal O, Larsen CK, Kongsgaard E, Boe E, Skulstad H, Hisdal J, Smiseth OA.

JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 2019;12(6):967-977.

2. Mechanism of Abnormal Septal Motion in Left Bundle Branch Block: Role of Left Ventricular Wall Interactions and Myocardial Scar.

Aalen JM, Remme EW, Larsen CK, Andersen OS, Krogh M, Duchenne J, Hopp E, Ross S, Beela AS, Kongsgaard E, Bergsland J, Odland HH, Skulstad H, Opdahl A, Voigt JU, Smiseth OA. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 2019;12(12):2402-2413.

3. Imaging predictors of response to cardiac resynchronization therapy: Left ventricular work asymmetry by echocardiography and septal viability by cardiac magnetic resonance. Aalen JM, Donal E, Larsen CK, Duchenne J, Lederlin M, Cvijic M, Hubert A, Voros G, Leclercq C, Bogaert J, Hopp E, Fjeld JG, Penicka M, Linde C, Aalen OO, Kongsgaard E, Galli E, Voigt JU, Smiseth OA.

Eur Heart J 2020; Sep 11 [E-pub ahead of print];DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehaa603

3. ABBREVIATIONS

- ACE = angiotensin-converting enzyme
- ARB = angiotensin receptor blocker
- ARNI = angiotensin receptor-neprilysin inhibitor
- AUC = area under the curve
- AV = atrioventricular
- CI = confidence interval
- CMR = cardiac magnetic resonance imaging
- CRT = cardiac resynchronization therapy
- CRT-D = cardiac resynchronization therapy defibrillator
- CRT-P = cardiac resynchronization therapy pacemaker
- CX = circumflex coronary artery
- dP/dt_{min} = peak rate of pressure decay
- ECG = electrocardiogram
- EF = ejection fraction
- ESC = European Society of Cardiology
- FDG-PET = ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography
- GLS = global longitudinal strain
- HF = heart failure
- HFrEF = heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (<40%)
- HFmrEF = heart failure with mid-range ejection fraction (40-49%)
- HFpEF = heart failure with preserved ejection fraction (\geq 50%)
- ICC = intra-class correlation coefficient
- ICD = implantable cardioverter-defibrillator
- IM-EMG = intramyocardial electromyogram

LA = left atrial

- LAD = left anterior descending coronary artery
- LBBB = left bundle branch block
- LGE = late gadolinium enhancement
- LV = left ventricular
- LVP = left ventricular pressure
- LW-S = lateral wall-to-septal
- NYHA = New York Heart Association
- RBBB = right bundle branch block
- ROC = receiver operating characteristic
- RV = right ventricular
- SGLT2 = sodium-glucose cotransporter 2
- SPWMD = septal-to-posterior wall motion delay
- TAVR = transcatheter aortic valve replacement
- 2D = two-dimensional

4. INTRODUCTION

Dyssynchrony

The normal left ventricle is characterized by synchronous contractions in all segments, ensuring effective pumping of blood with minimal waste of myocardial energy. A synchronous contraction pattern depends on both rapid electrical activation through a specialized conduction system and normal myocardial contractile function. If regional timing of contractions are out of phase, the term dyssynchrony is used (1).

Normally, left ventricular (LV) electrical activation starts when an electrical impulse enters the ventricle through the atrioventricular (AV) node. The impulse soon reaches the Bundle of His, which divides into the right and left bundle branches. The bundle branches continue along the interventricular septum towards the apex before the right bundle branch turns towards the right ventricular (RV) free wall, and the left bundle branch towards the LV free wall. Furthermore, the conduction system is divided into an extensive network of Purkinje fibers ensuring complete coverage of both ventricles. In some patients, however, there is a block in the system and the consequence is slow electrical activation through normal myocardial tissue so that areas distal to the block become late-activated with delayed contraction. This phenomenon is known as electromechanical dyssynchrony. Specifically, if the block occurs in the left bundle branch, it is named left bundle branch block (LBBB) and causes dyssynchronous LV contractions with clinically important hemodynamic effects on LV function (2). Similarly, a block in the right bundle branch causes right bundle branch block (RBBB) with effects on RV contraction pattern, but is less frequently of clinical importance.

Dyssynchrony also occurs without electrical activation delay as with primary mechanical dyssynchrony due to regional myocardial ischemia or regional loading abnormalities, and with abnormalities in excitation-contraction coupling (1, 3). Moreover, dyssynchrony occurs at different anatomical levels. AV dyssynchrony is caused by a block in the AV node and may have negative impact on LV filling due to premature atrial contraction. Interventricular dyssynchrony is due to different timing of contraction in the right and left ventricle, whereas the term intraventricular dyssynchrony is used when dyssynchrony occurs within the ventricle. As LV intraventricular dyssynchrony has been considered the main target to understand why patients respond to cardiac resynchronization therapy (CRT) (4), the main focus for this synopsis will be LV intraventricular dyssynchrony in the setting of LBBB.

Left bundle branch block

In clinical practice, the diagnosis of LBBB is based on the electrocardiogram (ECG). According to the European Society of Cardiology (ESC), main criteria include a wide QRS complex (≥120

ms), QS or rS in lead V1, broad R waves in leads I, aVL,V5 or V6 and absent Q waves in V5 and V6 (5). These criteria, however, are based on dog studies from the 1940s and more recent work using endocardial mapping have demonstrated that more than 30% of patients fulfilling such criteria do not have complete LBBB with delay between electrical activation of RV and LV endocardium (6). As illustrated in Figure 1, for the individual patient, there is typically a sudden increase in QRS duration with onset of LBBB. Some patients, however, develop wide QRS over years due to hypertrophy or other pathologies. These patients may fulfil classical criteria for LBBB, but often they have a wide QRS without criteria for LBBB or RBBB which is termed nonspecific intraventricular conduction disturbance (7). There has been several attempts to improve ECG criteria for LBBB. Alternative definitions of a "true" LBBB are generally stricter than the ESC criteria. A well-known example is the criteria proposed by Strauss et al. where QRS duration should be at least 130 ms for women and at least 140 ms for men together with mid-QRS notching in at least two lateral leads (8). A wide QRS with typical LBBB activation pattern may also be seen during RV pacing, especially if the lead is placed in the RV free wall, and may have similar consequences for LV function as LBBB (9).



Figure 1. Two electrocardiogram (ECG) recordings from a 75 year old patient who develops left bundle branch block with sudden QRS widening. There is typical mid-QRS notching in leads I, aVL, V5 and V6. Modified from Strauss et al. with permission (8).

The prevalence of LBBB is highly age-dependent with increasing prevalence in older age. During middle age, different studies have found a prevalence of about 0.5 %, higher in men than women (10, 11). LBBB is frequently associated with other cardiac diseases such as coronary artery disease, hypertension and cardiomyopathies, but may also be present in presumably healthy patients without other signs of heart disease. In some cases, the block is caused by acute ischemia, post-infarct scar or transcatheter aortic valve replacement (TAVR), but the precise mechanism is often unknown.

LBBB is associated with increased cardiovascular mortality in all age groups (12) and in patients without known heart disease (13). Still, it has been debated whether LBBB itself causes cardiovascular disease or if it is an innocent bystander. Previously, heart failure (HF) in LBBB was mostly thought to be a result of coexisting subclinical myocardial disease (11, 14). During the last years, however, several studies have argued in favor of LBBB as an independent contributor to heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) both in patients with and without pre-existing HF (15-20). This hypothesis is supported by experimental studies and the large body of evidence for LV reverse remodeling and improved survival in patients undergoing CRT, which to a large extent corrects the conduction delay. In contrast to patients with LBBB and HFrEF, there is no consensus on how to manage patients with LBBB and preserved LV ejection fraction (EF). A retrospective study of 100 patients with LBBB and normal LVEF found that 36% developed LVEF <45% over a period of 4 years (21). This means that most patients maintained systolic function within normal limits, but a substantial number showed LV remodeling and the authors were not able to identify risk factors. Interestingly, however, in the Losartan Intervention For Endpoint Reduction (LIFE) study, the authors found that hypertensive LBBB patients were almost twice as likely to be hospitalized for HF as hypertensive control patients (22), possibly suggesting hypertension as a particularly important risk factor in LBBB patients. Therefore, there is need to improve understanding on how LBBB causes HF and, specifically, to explore the interaction between blood pressure and LV dyssynchrony.

In experimental studies, induction of LBBB leads to dyssynchrony with inefficient LV contractions and immediate reduction in LV systolic function (23, 24) (Figure 2). In patients, LBBB has been associated with reduced LV systolic function even in individuals where LVEF is within normal limits (25, 26). The early activation of the septum leads to an early and unopposed septal contraction immediately before and during isovolumic contraction when LV pressure (LVP) is low (preejection shortening) (Figure 2 and 3C). Hence, blood is displaced towards the LV lateral wall, which is still relaxed and therefore stretched. This leads to increased preload on the LV lateral wall with subsequent powerful contraction according to the Starling mechanism (27-29). Blood is pushed back towards the septum, which is often stretched (rebound stretch) thereby absorbing energy from work performed by the LV lateral wall (30). The result is slowing of LVP rise and prolongation of the isovolumic

contraction phase (Figure 2). During mid ejection there is usually shortening in both walls, followed by premature termination of septal shortening with late-systolic septal stretch. The result is substantial reduction in septal systolic shortening (Figure 2 and 3C). In the late-activated LV lateral wall, on the other hand, there is delayed termination of contraction with post-systolic shortening.

In addition to its effect on LV systolic function, the dyssynchronous contraction pattern of LBBB has negative effects on parameters of LV diastolic function (26) and it may both cause and aggravate mitral regurgitation (31, 32). The latter is supported by the observation that CRT reduces moderate or severe mitral regurgitation to non-significant levels in about one third of LBBB patients (33) (Figure 3E).

The dyssynchronous contraction pattern in LBBB was first visualized by M-mode echocardiography almost fifty years ago (34, 35). With the introduction of CRT in the early 2000s, numerous timing-based echocardiographic indices were developed to assess LV dyssynchrony and improve patient selection for CRT. One example is the Yu index which is calculated as the standard deviation of time to peak systolic contraction of 12 LV segments (36), another is the septal-to-posterior wall motion delay (SPWMD) which is measured by Mmode in the parasternal long-axis view (37). The most typical visual features of LBBB during echocardiography, however, is abnormal septal motion and transverse motion of the apex. Commonly these motions are referred to as septal flash (38) and apical rocking (39). As illustrated in Figure 3C, septal flash can be defined as the rapid left- and rightward motion of the interventricular septum during early systole. Apical rocking, on the other hand, is a rightand leftward motion of the apex, which is pulled back and forth by contractions in the septum and LV lateral wall (Figure 3D). In the last decades, strain echocardiography has emerged as a clinically available tool and has allowed new ways to assess LV dyssynchrony (40-43).



Figure 2. Hemodynamic parameters from a representative animal during control conditions (left panel) and after induction of left bundle branch block (LBBB) (right panel). LBBB causes a dyssynchronous contraction pattern with prolonged isovolumic contraction phase and reduced LV dP/dtmax (peak rate of left ventricular pressure rise). AVO = aortic valve opening, AVC = aortic valve closure, ECG = electrocardiogram, EMG = electromyogram, LA = left atrial, LAP = left atrial pressure, LV = left ventricular, LVP = left ventricular pressure, MVO = mitral valve opening, MVC = mitral valve closure.



Figure 3. Left ventricular (LV) mechanical and metabolic features of left bundle branch block (LBBB). In LBBB there are typically inefficient LV contractions due to abnormal septal motion with reduced septal shortening, work and metabolism. Reproduced with permission (2).

Afterload

Afterload represents the load on the ventricle during contraction, as opposed to preload which is the load prior to contraction. A direct measure of afterload is ventricular wall stress which represents the load imposed on the myocardial fibers. According to the law of Laplace, wall stress is determined by (transmural) ventricular pressure, wall thickness and radius of curvature. Afterload increases with increased ventricular pressure, a thinner wall and larger radius (44). Moreover, afterload depends on extracardiac factors such as peripheral arterial resistance, arterial compliance and inertia, which are commonly described using a Windkessel model (45). In clinical practice, LVP or systolic blood pressure (in the absence of significant LV outflow obstruction) is often used as a simplified measurement of LV afterload and may serve as a reasonable simplification, especially when assessments are performed within the same patient. In ventricles with regional geometrical differences like asymmetric hypertrophy, afterload may vary between different segments. Furthermore, afterload dynamically varies during systole as pressure and geometry change. These factors are of special importance in LBBB where time of contraction differs between different segments and dyssynchronous deformations result in asymmetric geometry, resulting in heterogeneous afterload. In the present thesis, we study both the effect of afterload on regional LV function and the effect of increased afterload on global LV function.

Myocardial work

As shown by Suga in the late 1970s, the area of the LV pressure-volume loop reflects stroke work (external myocardial work) and myocardial oxygen consumption (46). Similarly, it was later shown that the area of the force-segment length loop reflected segmental myocardial work and oxygen consumption (47, 48). In clinical practice, however, it is difficult to calculate force (which is similar to wall stress) due to the need for continuous recordings of radius of curvature and wall thickness in addition to pressure. Instead, it has been shown that substituting force with pressure provides a reasonable estimate of segmental work during most circumstances (49). Furthermore, segment length can be replaced by strain as dimension measurement with the limitation that it only provides a relative length. Still, the need for invasive measurement of LVP has limited the use of pressure-dimension loops in patients. Recently, however, the innovation of a non-invasive LVP curve based on brachial systolic cuff pressure and valvular event timing has enabled non-invasive estimation of myocardial work (50). Pressure-strain loops based on non-invasive LVP and strain by speckletracking echocardiography have been shown to correlate well with both invasive pressuresegment length loops in animals and with regional metabolism given by ¹⁸Ffluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography (FDG-PET) in LBBB patients (50-52). The method has recently been incorporated in commercial software (GE Echopac 202, Horten, Norway) and is now widely available. Recently, normal values for global work parameters were published (53).

A significant limitation with strain alone as parameter of systolic function, is the lack of information on afterload. During LBBB, loading conditions in the septum are abnormal with a substantial amount of shortening performed during low LVP and, therefore, integration of afterload is of special importance (9). Myocardial work takes this aspect of dyssynchrony into account. Additionally, myocardial work takes into account both positive and negative work. Per definition, work performed during segmental shortening is positive (i.e. counterclockwise rotation of the pressure-strain loop) and work during segmental

lengthening (stretch) is negative (i.e. clockwise rotation of the pressure-strain loop). During LBBB, both early-systolic septal rebound stretch and late-systolic septal stretch represent negative work and in some cases there is even net negative septal work (as illustrated in Figure 3A). This means that contribution from the septum, which makes up approximately one third of LV mass, to LV systolic function is lost and instead the septum absorbs energy generated in the LV free wall (30). Reduced septal work explains the finding of reduced septal metabolism and perfusion, which is typical in LBBB patients despite normal coronary anatomy (Figure 3B) (50, 54, 55). Furthermore, the increased workload on the LV free wall is a stimulus to adverse remodeling (2, 29, 56). Hence, during LBBB there is typically marked work asymmetry between the septum and LV lateral wall leading to thinning of the septum and concentric hypertrophy of the LV lateral wall (57, 58).



Figure 4. Concept of the myocardial work index. Arrow indicates counterclockwise rotation during systole, which means systolic shortening and positive work. Blue circles represent valvular events. LV = left ventricular.

Heart failure

HF is defined as a clinical syndrome characterized by typical symptoms caused by a structural or functional cardiac abnormality resulting in reduced cardiac output or elevated intracardiac pressures at rest or during exercise (59). It constitutes a major and growing medical problem worldwide as well as a major economic burden on health care systems (60). Diagnosis is typically made based on history, physical examination, ECG, pro-BNP, chest x-ray and echocardiography. HF can be acute or chronic; often acute HF presents in patients with large myocardial infarctions or pre-existing chronic HF. In the following, we will focus on chronic HF. The two main types of HF are HFrEF (LVEF <40%) and heart failure with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF) (LVEF ≥50%). In the ESC guidelines there is also a third category named heart failure with mid-range ejection fraction (HFmrEF) with LVEF 40-49% (59). Both patients with HFrEF and HFpEF show high rates of five years mortality, in particular patients who have been hospitalized due to decompensation (61). There are,

however, several important differences between the two types regarding etiology and treatment. In the following, we will focus on HFrEF since this it is most important in the setting of LBBB and CRT.

First, it is important to establish underlying etiology and treat accordingly whenever possible. For example, in patients with HF partly or completely due to coronary artery disease, it is important to ensure proper revascularization. Similarly, it is essential to establish rate control in patients with tachycardiomyopathy.

There are several well-documented pharmacological treatments for HFrEF which are indicated independent of underlying etiology. Angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors and beta blockers are proven to reduce morbidity and mortality, and should be gradually up-titrated to target doses in all patients (59). Furthermore, in patients with LVEF ≤35% that are still symptomatic, an aldosterone receptor antagonist should be added. For patients that are intolerable to ACE inhibitors, an angiotensin receptor blocker (ARB) is an adequate substitute. A few years ago, a new drug combining an ARB with a neprilysin inhibitor (angiotensin receptor-neprilysin inhibitor (ARNI)) was shown to reduce mortality and HF hospitalizations as compared to standard treatment with an ACE inhibitor in symptomatic HFrEF patients (62). The span of indications for ARNI are currently increasing. More recently, it was found that the antidiabetic sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitor dapagliflozin reduces risk of worsening HF and death among HFrEF patients with and without diabetes (63). Furthermore, there were similar findings for empagliflozin indicating a SGLT2 class effect on HFrEF (64). Thus, it is likely that SGLT2 inhibitors will play an important role in the future treatment of HFrEF although they are not yet included in guidelines. In addition to the abovementioned agents, diuretics are commonly used to relieve symptoms, but their effect on mortality remains uncertain.

Treatment in HFrEF is not limited to medical therapies. Implantable cardioverter-defibrillator (ICD) and CRT are important device therapies in selected patients. Moreover, some patients with end-stage HF are candidates for left ventricular assist device or heart transplantation. The main indications for ICD are either previous history with ventricular arrhythmia (secondary prevention) or patients with LVEF ≤35% due to ischemic or dilated cardiomyopathy (primary prevention). In addition, there are specific recommendations for ICD in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy and inherited arrhythmia syndromes. It is important to emphasize that the ICD does not interfere with the course of HF itself, but prevents sudden cardiac death from arrhythmias. Hence, largest benefit is seen in patients with high risk of arrhythmias (typically in patients with secondary prevention).



Figure 5. Treatment algorithm for heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) (ESC guidelines 2016). Reproduced with permission (59).

Cardiac resynchronization therapy

LBBB is present in as many as 25% of HF patients and is associated with increased mortality as compared to HF patients with narrow QRS (65). In the last 20 years, CRT has emerged as an essential part of HF therapy in such patients. At group level, CRT has major positive effects on functional outcomes, morbidity and mortality (66, 67). The main concept of CRT is to resynchronize LV contractions. This is achieved through biventricular pacing, which ensures synchronized activation of both ventricles. This being said, there is no clear evidence

that biventricular pacing is superior to LV only pacing (5). Moreover, the effect of CRT is not limited to LV dyssynchrony and other effects such as AV resynchronization, reduction of mitral regurgitation and prevention of symptomatic bradycardia, may play an important role (59, 68, 69). As with conventional 2-chamber pacemakers, CRT usually consists of one lead in the right atrium and one in the right ventricle. Additionally, in CRT, there is a third lead most often placed in the posterolateral wall of the left ventricle. The LV lead is often positioned in a coronary vein, which is reached through the coronary sinus. In some patients, however, the lead is surgically attached to the epicardium, usually via thoracotomy. CRT may be implanted as a solely biventricular pacemaker (CRT-P) or combined with an ICD (CRT-D).

The current ESC indication for CRT is HFrEF with LBBB (QRS duration ≥130 ms) or non-LBBB (QRS duration ≥150 ms), HF symptoms (New York Heart Association (NYHA) class II-IV) and LVEF ≤35% (59). Criteria are somewhat stricter and recommendation weaker for patients with atrial fibrillation as there is less evidence. Before CRT is considered, all patients should be optimally revascularized and receive optimal medical HF therapy as indicated in Figure 5. There is also indication for upgrade to CRT among patients with conventional pacemakers or ICD when there is a high percentage of ventricular pacing and declining LV systolic function. Furthermore, in patients in need of a conventional pacemaker with reduced LVEF where a high percentage of ventricular pacing is expected, direct implantation of CRT is preferred. The choice of CRT-P or CRT-D depends on the presence and strength of ICD indication and whether the main purpose of treatment is symptom relief or life prolongation. It is noteworthy that while price and complication rates are considerably higher, the mortality benefit of CRT-D over CRT-P is rather uncertain in non-ischemic patients (70).

In contrast to most other pacemaker therapies, it is important to ensure the highest possible amount of pacing with CRT. Percentage biventricular pacing should ideally be >99% and medical therapy to reduce the number of extrasystolic beats or to prevent tachyarrhythmia may be indicated. In particular, patients with atrial fibrillation is a challenging group where AV node ablation is often needed to ensure adequate percentage pacing (5).

Considering LBBB as a potential underlying cause of HF, it may seem paradoxical that medical treatment should be tried before treating LBBB with CRT. In fact, a recent study showed that HFrEF patients with LBBB seem to have less effect of medical heart failure therapy compared with HFrEF patients with other QRS morphologies (71). Moreover, a meta-analysis showed effect of CRT in NYHA class 1 patients, suggesting that CRT may also be beneficial in earlier stages of HF (72).

Currently, however, the main challenge with selection of patients for CRT is the consistent high number of non-responders. About one third of patients show no clinical improvement and in some cases even aggravation of symptoms (73). In addition, application of CRT in patients with narrow QRS (<130 ms) increased mortality compared to controls (74) and this

study was the reason why ESC guidelines changed recommendation for lower limit QRS duration from 120 to 130 ms. Since the therapy is also costly and the risk of serious device-related complications is significant, there is need for better selection criteria.

Several factors are known to affect the likelihood of response. Female gender, longer QRS duration, non-ischemic etiology and absence of scar are all predictors of favorable response. Moreover, LBBB morphology in ECG responds better than non-LBBB morphology, but there is still debate whether QRS duration or morphology is most important (75-79). Recent studies suggest the existence of a "point of no return" where patients with very depressed systolic function are likely not to respond (80, 81). In addition to total scar burden, there has been special attention towards scar in the LV posterolateral wall, which has been shown to be an independent predictor of non-response in several studies (82-85). This has been attributed to failure of efficient pacing delivery from the LV lead and it has been suggested that response can be achieved when optimizing LV lead position (86, 87). One study, however, found that the benefit of CRT with LV lateral wall scar was low, also when applying pacing in viable myocardium (88). Furthermore, as shown in mathematical simulation studies, decreased contractility in the LV posterolateral wall may reduce septal rebound stretch and improve septal shortening in LBBB (41), possibly indicating less potential for improvement of septal function with CRT (42). Therefore, there is need to improve understanding on how myocardial scar and, in particular, LV lateral wall scar affects LV function and abnormal septal motion in LBBB.

There has been numerous attempts to improve selection criteria for CRT and the primary focus has been echocardiographic indices of dyssynchrony. In fact, several timing-based indices were tested and proved useful in single-center studies (36, 37, 89). Nevertheless, when tested in a multicenter setting, none of the indices proved useful over current guidelines (90). This has in part been attributed to technical and methodological challenges, but evolving evidence has suggested that timing indices may be suboptimal measures of electromechanical dyssynchrony amenable to CRT (91, 92). Moreover, timing indices are sensitive to non-electrical causes of LV dyssynchrony (1, 3). This has led to new ways to assess dyssynchrony. In this regard, our group developed a method to differentiate different etiologies of dyssynchrony by onset of active myocardial force generation (93). More recently, focus has changed towards assessing specific contraction patterns that are associated with electromechanical dyssynchrony. In particular, there has been focus on the abnormal septal contraction pattern in LBBB (40-43, 81, 94, 95) and in favor of this concept it was shown that normalization of septal motion and perfusion after CRT is associated with positive response (58, 94, 96). Current guidelines, however, do not recommend any imaging parameter for dyssynchrony (59). Therefore, there is still need for new methods to predict CRT response.

To improve response rates in patients already receiving CRT, several approaches have been proposed. Targeted implantation of the LV lead at the site of latest mechanical activation as determined by speckle-tracking radial strain has showed improvement in the combined endpoint death and HF hospitalizations (97, 98). Multisite pacing, where the left ventricle is stimulated at multiple sites either by additional leads or a multipolar LV lead, is thought to provide more synchronous LV activation, but clinical benefit remains somewhat uncertain (99). In the adaptive CRT algorithm, LV pacing is fused with the intrinsic electrical activation given normal PR-interval. This allows a more physiological activation of the left ventricle and has proven clinical benefit (100). Furthermore, it has been relatively common to use echocardiography to optimize interventricular and, especially, AV delay in non-responders. The value of such approaches, however, remains uncertain (59).



Figure 6. Survival with CRT as compared to optimal medical therapy alone. Reproduced with permission (67). Copyright Massachusetts Medical Society.

5. AIMS OF THESIS

General aims

To study regional and global LV function during LBBB to improve understanding of LV dyssynchrony on myocardial function and CRT response. We hypothesized that septal dysfunction is the main cause of LV systolic dysfunction in LBBB and that septal function can be restored by CRT leading to improved LV function, provided viable septal myocardium. Furthermore, we postulated that septal dysfunction in LBBB depends on interaction with the late-activate LV lateral wall and that the dyssynchronous ventricle is hypersensitive to increased afterload.

Specific aims

- 1. To determine the effect of increased afterload on regional and global LV function in LBBB.
- 2. To understand septal-to-lateral wall interaction and, in particular, the effect of LV lateral wall scar in LBBB.
- 3. To test the hypothesis that septal dysfunction, in the presence of viable septal myocardium and compensatory LV lateral wall hyperfunction, predicts response to CRT in a prospective multicenter study.

6. MATERIAL

Experimental studies

Paper 1

Eight anesthetized mongrel dogs of either sex and body weight of 34±2 kg were studied. LBBB was induced by radiofrequency ablation and afterload increased by constriction of the ascending aorta.

Paper 2

Ten anesthetized mongrel dogs of either sex and body weight of 40±4 kg were studied. LBBB was induced by radiofrequency ablation and ischemia induced by occlusion of the circumflex coronary artery (CX) (n=10) and left anterior descending coronary artery (LAD) (n=6).

The studies were approved by the National Animal Experimentation Board and the animals were supplied by the Center for Comparative Medicine (Oslo University Hospital, Rikshospitalet, Oslo, Norway).

Clinical studies

Paper 1

Eleven LBBB patients (age 62±8 years, 6 females) with preserved LV systolic function and without coronary artery disease were recruited through an outpatient cardiology practice. Additionally, 11 age-matched controls (age 60±10 years, 6 females) were recruited through voluntarily enrollment in the community. Afterload was temporarily increased by combining pneumatic extremity constrictors and handgrip exercise. Strain and LVEF were measured by echocardiography during baseline and increased afterload.

Paper 2

Forty heart failure patients with LBBB were studied by echocardiography. Most patients (n=35) also underwent late gadolinium enhancement cardiac magnetic resonance imaging (LGE-CMR) to evaluate the presence of myocardial scar. Twenty patients had ischemic cardiomyopathy (10 with anteroseptal scar and 10 with posterolateral scar) and 20 patients had non-ischemic cardiomyopathy. All patients were in sinus rhythm with typical LBBB configuration. All included patients were participating in ongoing CRT studies at Oslo University Hospital (n=31) and University Hospitals Leuven (n=9). The vast majority (36 of 40 patients) participated in the prospective study described in the next section.

Paper 3

Two hundred and thirty-six HF patients referred for CRT implantation were prospectively included at Oslo University Hospital (n=101), University Hospitals Leuven (n=50), Rennes University Hospital (n=71), OLV Hospital Aalst (n=11) and Karolinska University Hospital (n=3). In the study period, there were about 200 CRT implantations in Oslo, 300 in Rennes and 120 in Leuven. Therefore, approximately 35% of implanted patients in the main contributing centers were included. Inclusion criterion was indication for CRT according to 2013 ESC guidelines (5). Exclusion criteria were recent myocardial infarction or coronary artery bypass surgery, post heart transplantation, implanted left ventricular assist device, severe aortic stenosis, uncorrected congenital heart disease or impossibility to obtain LV volumes by echocardiography. Thirty-six patients were lost to follow-up due to study withdrawal (n=4), lack of echocardiographic data (n=7), endocarditis followed by lead extraction (n=1) or CRT not implanted (n=24). Hence, 200 patients were available for analysis. All patients underwent echocardiography and feasible patients (n=125) underwent LGE-CMR viability assessment prior to CRT implantation. Echocardiography was repeated at 7±1 months follow-up and survival assessed at 35±11 months follow-up.

The clinical studies were approved by the Regional Ethical Committee and written, informed consent was obtained from all study participants.

7. METHODS

Experimental studies (Paper 1-2)

Animal preparation

Experiments in paper 1 were performed prior to commencement of this PhD, while the series of experiments in paper 2 was performed in the period 2016-2018. For both series, we used a canine model allowing detailed hemodynamic measurements. The model is well-established and has been used by our group for many years (101-103). All experiments were performed by our research group at the Institute for Surgical Research, Oslo University Hospital, Rikshospitalet, Oslo, Norway.

First, the animals were anesthetized by either barbiturates and opioids (thiopentone 25 mg/kg and morphine 100 mg IV, followed by infusion of morphine 50 to 100 mg/h and pentobarbital 50 mg IV every hour) or propofol and opioids (single dose methadone 0.2 mg/kg, followed by propofol 3-4 mg/kg and a bolus of fentanyl 2-3 μ g/kg, thereafter continuous infusion of propofol 0.2-1 mg/kg/min and fentanyl 5-40 μ g/kg/hour). Anesthetic regime in our lab was changed from barbiturates to propofol in the period between the last experiments in the first paper. This was done after consultation with the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine at the Norwegian University of Life Sciences and the intention was to establish an easier controllable regime with less risk of irreversible overdosing. It should be noted, however, that both regimes have cardiodepressive effects with negative consequences for LV function.

After induction of general anesthesia the animals underwent endotracheal intubation with ventilation through a respirator. ECG was monitored from limb leads. Arterial and venous accesses were made through femoral and carotid vessel incisions followed by insertion of LV and aortic pressure catheters. The heart was accessed through a median sternotomy and the pericardium was split from apex to base. After instrumentation with crystals, right atrial pacemaker lead and left atrial (LA) pressure catheters, the pericardium was loosely resutured. Body temperature and arterial blood gas samples were regularly checked to avoid hypothermia and ensure adequate ventilation. Effect of anesthesia was regularly evaluated by assessment of hemodynamic parameters, interdigital reflex and tone. At the end of the experiment, animals were euthanized by an intracardiac injection of pentobarbital. All recordings were performed with the respirator temporarily switched off.

Pressures

Pressures were measured by micromanometer-tipped catheters (MPC-500, Millar Instruments Inc., Houston, Texas). To adjust for the problem with drifting, LV and LA

micromanometers were zero-referenced to LA pressure measured by a fluid-filled catheter for each recording. This was done during prolonged diastasis after an extrasystolic beat.

Sonomicrometry and regional electromyograms

LV dimensions were measured by sonomicrometry using piezoelectric crystals (Sonometrics Corporation, London, Ontario, Canada), which is considered gold standard for assessment of LV deformation. Septal, anterior, lateral and posterior 2 mm wide crystals were implanted subendocardially in the mid-equatorial plane in the left ventricle and combined with bipolar electrodes for measurement of intramyocardial electromyograms (IM-EMG) (Figure 7). Additionally, 3 mm wide basal and apical crystals were implanted for LV volume measurement using a three-axis ellipsoid model (104). Crystal positioning was optimized in the longitudinal and circumferential plane by checking the distance to other crystals. True subendocardial position in the radial plane, however, may be technically challenging and is difficult to check after implantation. An important consequence of a more epicardial crystal position is the inclusion of myocardium in the LV volume calculation, which gives too large volumes with false low LVEF. Furthermore, a segmental crystal pair with one crystal in a more epicardial position leads to an error in segmental deformation analysis as both wall thickening and shortening are included. Such error is most important when there is short distance between the crystals. Circumferential segment lengths were used to report segmental data. Sample rate was 200 Hz resulting in a temporal resolution of 5 ms.



O Ultrasound crystal

Figure 7. Placement of myocardial crystals. Arrows indicate circumferential segments used for measurements. Modified from Gjesdal et al. (103). IM-EMG = intramyocardial electromyogram.

Induction of LBBB

LBBB was induced by radiofrequency ablation (Celsius Catheter, Biosense Webster, Inc) as previously described at a location two thirds from the atrial and one third from the ventricular signal (103). Stable LBBB was ensured by at least 20 minutes observation prior to start of recordings.

Radiofrequency ablation is known as an adequate experimental model for LBBB and has been used by leading groups in the field (23, 105). It provides a stable LBBB activation pattern with similar LV deformation as seen in many patients. It does not, however, account for the heterogeneity in a mixed patient population and, importantly, in our acute model effects of long-standing LBBB activation pattern such as adverse LV remodeling is not taken into account. LBBB activation pattern may also be induced by RV free wall pacing (56) and one advantage of such method is the opportunity to switch on RV pacing and obtain immediate effects of dyssynchrony without the potential bias of cardiovascular deterioration between measurements. Nevertheless, for the present studies, we chose to use radiofrequency ablation as this probably resembles the clinical condition in LBBB patients most closely.

Elevation of afterload (Paper 1)

An inflatable silicon constrictor was placed around the ascending aorta. By inflating the constrictor, LV afterload was immediately increased. This allowed us to study segmental and global effects of beat-to-beat changes in LV afterload with minimal influence of compensatory reflexes.

LV lateral wall and septal ischemia (Paper 2)

To obtain LV lateral wall ischemia, we occluded the proximal part of CX (n=10) and to obtain septal ischemia we occluded the proximal part of LAD (n=6). The presence of adequate segmental ischemia was determined by sudden reduction in systolic shortening and increased post-systolic shortening (49). In the first five animals (CX occlusion n=5, LAD occlusion n=1), we used an adjustable extravascular occluder cuff which was attached around the artery. For the last five experiments, we changed the protocol and, instead, performed a coronary angiogram followed by intravascular balloon inflation with percutaneous coronary intervention technique. The reason for protocol change was to optimize the location of coronary occlusion and to enable occlusion of septal collaterals if needed, as proximal LAD occlusion may not always be sufficient to create septal ischemia. In fact, in one animal the posterior descending coronary artery was occluded simultaneously with LAD to obtain adequate septal ischemia. Furthermore, the new protocol was considered less hazardous for the animal as the technically challenging dissection of the CX

was avoided. In animals with occlusion of both arteries (n=6), we occluded the LAD first in 4 animals and the CX first in 2 animals to reduce the potential bias from preconditioning. Moreover, we took care to assure complete reperfusion and recovery of regional and global LV function prior to the next occlusion.

Clinical studies (Paper 1-3)

Echocardiography

All echocardiograms were performed with a Vivid E9 or E95 scanner (GE Vingmed, Horten, Norway). Recordings included two-dimensional (2D) grey-scale images from the parasternal and apical LV views and Doppler echocardiography to assess valvular function. Images were stored for off-line analysis. Ventricular volumes and LVEF were calculated by biplane Simpson's method as the average of three heartbeats. LV longitudinal strain was assessed by speckle-tracking echocardiography in apical views. Average frame rate per second was 59±6 in paper 1, 60±9 in paper 2 and 66±11 in paper 3. Brachial arterial blood pressure was measured at least twice immediately prior to the echocardiographic examination with the patient in supine position. Together with Camilla Kjellstad Larsen, the author of this thesis performed the vast majority of echocardiograms in patients and controls in Oslo.

Elevation of afterload (Paper 1)

Afterload was elevated by a combined method including isometric handgrip exercise (80% of maximum voluntary contraction) and inflatable cuffs around the right upper and the two lower extremities (Figure 8). Cuffs were inflated for periods of 30 seconds, which caused increase in total peripheral resistance. Simultaneously, the control subject performed isometric handgrip exercise (106). Blood pressure, heart rate and echocardiographic images were recorded continuously before, during and after the 30-second experiment. A photoplethysmographic pressure recording device (Finometer, FMS Finapres Medical System, Amsterdam, the Netherlands) placed on the left hand was used for blood pressure measurements. The device was calibrated against brachial arterial cuff pressure. The combined method (cuff inflation and handgrip exercise) was chosen based on results from a pilot study where blood pressure increase was larger with both methods combined than with any of them alone. Importantly, the intervention does not purely alter afterload as sympaticoadrenal tone is increased with effects on contractility and preload (106).



Figure 8. Experiment setup clinical study paper 1.

LGE-CMR (Paper 2-3)

Eligible patients (n=125) were scanned with a 1.5 or 3.0 Tesla unit (Aera, Skyra or Verio, Siemens, Erlangen, Germany, Ingenia, Philips Healthcare, Best, The Netherlands or Signa HDXT, GE, Boston, US). Main reasons for not undergoing LGE-CMR were previously implanted pacemaker or ICD (n=42) and reduced renal function (n=22) (patients with estimated glomerular filtration rate <45 ml/min/1.73m² were examined without contrast). Long- and short-axis LGE images were obtained at steady state after intravenous injection of either 0.15 or 0.20 mmol/kg gadoterate meglumine (Doteram[™], Guerbet, Villepinte, France) or 0.15 mmol/kg gadobenate dimeglumine (MultiHance[®], Bracco, Milan, Italy).

CRT implantation (Paper 3)

The decision to implant CRT was based on current ESC guidelines with final decision made by the responsible electrophysiologist. Coronary venography was used to guide implantation. Otherwise, implantation procedure and device manufacturer were according to clinical routine at the different institutions. All devices were programmed in conventional biventricular pacing mode and retested prior to hospital discharge.

Data analysis

i. Experimental data

General considerations

All measurements were obtained during sinus rhythm or right atrial pacing when necessary to obtain a stable heart rate. The average of three consecutive heart beats were used with the exception of afterload interventions where beat-to-beat changes were studied. During afterload increase, measurements were done within the first seconds after onset aortic constriction. During ischemia, measurements were done after 61±16 seconds of CX occlusion and after 42±16 seconds of LAD occlusion. The author of this thesis performed all data analysis.

Definition of end-diastole and end-systole

Commonly used definitions of end-diastole include onset QRS or peak R in the ECG, mitral valve closure and peak LV volume. However, due to regional differences in electromechanical activation, the definition of end-diastole is particularly challenging during LBBB. Peak R may be difficult to determine and mitral valve closure occurs somewhat after onset septal shortening as the first part of septal preejection shortening contributes to mitral valve closure (107). In the present experimental studies, our purpose was to study regional function during LBBB with special focus on septal function. Therefore, we chose to define end-diastole as onset septal shortening following septal electrical activation as determined by the IM-EMG. This, however, means the LV lateral wall was not yet electrically activated during end-diastole.

End-systole was set to a ortic valve closure which was defined as peak rate of LVP decay (LV dP/dt_{min}).

Segmental myocardial deformation

Septal and LV lateral wall systolic shortening were measured as end-diastolic minus endsystolic segment length. Septal preejection shortening and rebound stretch were measured as indicated in Figure 3C while septal ejection shortening was defined as septal shortening during LV ejection. LV lateral wall preejection lengthening was defined as the early-systolic stretch occurring simultaneously to septal preejection shortening as can be seen in Figure 3C.

Segmental myocardial work

Invasive LVP and segment lengths from sonomicrometry were used to calculate segmental myocardial work as the pressure-segment length loop area. Work performed during segmental shortening (counterclockwise rotation of the pressure-segment length loop) was considered positive, whereas work performed during segmental elongation (clockwise rotation of the pressure-segment length loop) was considered negative. Net work was given as the sum of positive and negative work. Segmental length (absolute dimension) was used rather than strain (relative dimension) since this provides a more precise estimate of true work.

ii. Clinical data

The author of this thesis analyzed all echocardiographic data with exception of LV volumes in paper 3 and septal flash/apical rocking. Of note, work in paper 3 was analyzed without knowledge of volumetric data. CMR data was analyzed by two co-authors in Oslo. In paper 1, heart beats were analyzed immediately prior to the intervention and during maximum increase in systolic blood pressure.

Definition of end-diastole

Similar to the experimental studies, we defined end-diastole as onset septal shortening following onset QRS as determined by the ECG.

Myocardial strain

Longitudinal strain was measured by speckle-tracking echocardiography from the three apical views using an 18-segment model (Echopac version 202, GE Vingmed Ultrasound, Horten, Norway). The Q-analysis tool was used to manually delineate the endocardium and create a region of interest, which was adjusted to achieve optimal tracking of the myocardium. Special care was taken to avoid tracking the pericardium. Independent of software recommendation, all segments were checked carefully to ensure sufficient tracking quality. Segments that were poorly tracked despite repeated adjustments, were excluded. If more than one segment per view was excluded, global values were not given (108). In patients with irregular heart rhythm, beats with approximately average heart rate were used for analysis. Septal and LV lateral wall strain was obtained from septal and LV lateral wall segments in the apical 4-chamber view as described in the respective papers. Septal preejection shortening, rebound stretch and ejection shortening as well as segmental systolic shortening were defined as in the experimental study. Longitudinal strain was chosen over circumferential and radial strain due to its superior feasibility and reproducibility as well as its more frequent use. This, however, may potentially represent a limitation as circumferential and radial strain may be more sensitive for dyssynchrony (109, 110). For simplicity, all strain values were given as absolute values.

Segmental non-invasive myocardial work index

As previously explained, the recent innovation of a non-invasive estimate of the LVP curve has made it possible to calculate an index of segmental myocardial work based on pressurestrain loop analysis. The method was innovated in our lab and validated against invasive LVP by micromanometer and dimensions by sonomicrometry (50).

First, a large number of invasively measured LVP traces were sampled. Thereafter, the isovolumic and ejection phases as well as peak LVP was normalized to create an average reference curve. The reference curve is adjusted to the individual patient by adding peak LVP (usually given as brachial systolic cuff pressure) and valvular events by echocardiography (provides timing of isovolumic and ejection phases). It is important to emphasize that the curve is only validated for pressure-strain loop analysis so that it cannot be used to calculate peak rate of rise or fall in LVP or diastolic pressures. Moreover, during conditions like aortic stenosis, where peak LVP is substantially different from peak aortic pressure, the method cannot be used unless the aortic pressure gradient is taken into account (50).

The myocardial work index (mmHg·%) is calculated by multiplying the rate of segmental shortening (derived from strain) with instantaneous LVP from the individually adjusted reference curve, which gives a measure of instantaneous power. This is integrated over time from mitral valve closure to mitral valve opening and the result is work performed during systole, which is similar to the area of the pressure-strain loop. The minor difference is that the myocardial work index does not subtract the negative work performed on the left ventricle during diastole when blood enters and stretches the LV walls. This work is mostly performed by the right ventricle and left atrium and as diastolic pressures are far lower than systolic pressures, such a small amount of work is usually negligible.

In the present studies, myocardial work was calculated semiautomatically with Echopac version 202 (GE Vingmed Ultrasound, Horten, Norway) using longitudinal strain from speckle-tracking echocardiography in the same 18-segment model as described in the previous section. Valvular events were defined in the apical 3-chamber view according to default software setting or, if the aortic valve was not sufficiently visualized, by Doppler echocardiography (111).

Septal and LV lateral wall work was measured from septal and LV lateral wall segments in the apical 4-chamber view as described in the papers. In paper 3, the lateral wall-to-septal (LW-S) work difference was calculated as LV lateral wall work minus septal work and was feasible in 98% of patients. Global work was measured as average of all 18 segments (similar to global longitudinal strain). As with strain, global values were not given if more than one

segment was excluded in a single view. Positive, negative and net work was defined similar as in the experimental studies.

Inter- and intraobserver variability for myocardial work has been tested in patients with LBBB and in other patient populations with good results (50, 112, 113). Intercenter variability, however, has to our knowledge never been examined and, thus, we performed an intercenter variability study in 38 randomly selected patients.

Alternative approaches (Paper 3)

Septal flash (38) and apical rocking (39) were assessed in Leuven by two experienced readers. In cases of disagreement (26 of 200 for septal flash and 28 of 200 for apical rocking), a final consensus reading was performed by a third reader. Septal flash was defined as preejection septal shortening or rapid leftward septal motion immediately after onset QRS and was assessed visually in apical 2D images or, when in doubt, with longitudinal strain or M-mode in parasternal views. Apical rocking was defined as a transverse rightward motion of the apex immediately after onset QRS, followed by a leftward motion of the apex during ejection. It was assessed visually in apical 2D images (94). Systolic stretch index (114) was calculated from longitudinal strain traces in the apical 4-chamber view as the sum of early-systolic stretch in the LV lateral wall and septal systolic stretch (rebound stretch plus late-systolic septal stretch).

Myocardial scar (Paper 2-3)

First, LGE-CMR images were assessed visually by an experienced CMR radiologist to determine the presence of macroscopic myocardial fibrosis. If fibrosis was present, Segment software v2.0 R5270 (115) was used for semiautomatically quantification of scar size using the automatic algorithm EWA (expectation maximization, weighted intensity, a priori information). Polar maps were constructed using a 17-segment model. Myocardial scar was reported regionally as percentage of total amount of tissue per wall and globally as percentage of total amount of tissue in the left ventricle. Scars were analysed and reported the same way independent of ischemic or other cause.

Primary endpoint (Paper 3)

Primary endpoint in paper 3 was reverse remodeling at 7±1 months follow-up defined as ≥15% reduction in LV end-systolic volume index. Volumes were, as previously mentioned, measured by the biplane Simpson method using echocardiographic images from the apical 2- and 4-chamber view. These measurements, however, are afflicted by significant inter- and intraobserver variability (116), which may affect the decision of CRT response or not for a number of patients. To minimize the impact of such variability, all volumes were measured at three different locations (Rennes, Leuven and Oslo) by different observers who were

blinded to work data. In cases of disagreement on response, a majority decision was made. Average of agreeing volumes was used for volumes as a continuous variable. For further discussion on the use of LV volumes as endpoint, please see the discussion section.

Secondary endpoint (Paper 3)

Death of any cause or heart transplantation constituted the secondary endpoint. The secondary endpoint was assessed at 35±11 months follow-up. Initially, we planned to include HF hospitalizations in the secondary endpoint, but data on the cause of hospitalization were unfortunately insufficient in a significant number of patients.

Statistics

Continuous values are presented as mean±standard deviation or confidence intervals (CI). Comparisons within one group was performed by paired sample t-test, whereas comparisons between two groups were performed using independent sample t-test or chisquare test as appropriate. In paper 1, significance of the interaction effect from an analysis of variance was reported to highlight differences in afterload effect between LBBB and control conditions. In paper 3, linear regression (univariate and multivariate) was used to identify predictors of CRT response and receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves with area under the curve (AUC) values were used to determine test properties. The assessment of myocardial work and viability was combined by using logistic regression to calculate probability of response. This parameter was thereafter used for construction of ROC curves. The DeLong method or, when more appropriate (117), the Hanley & McNeil method (MedCalc Software 2019) were used to compare ROC curves. Survival data are presented as hazard ratios (Cox regression and Kaplan Meier curves with log-rank test). For reproducibility, we used Bland-Altman plots, Pearson correlation, intra-class correlation coefficient (ICC) and Cohen's kappa. In general, a p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant. However, when testing in two groups or if comparisons were not orthogonal, we applied Bonferroni correction so that only a p-value of <0.025 was significant. SPSS version 25.0 software (SPSS, IBM, Armonk, New York) was used for the analyses.
8. SUMMARY OF RESULTS

Paper 1

Clinical study

During intervention, systolic blood pressure increased with 38±12 mmHg in controls and 34±13 mmHg in LBBB patients (p=NS). This was accompanied by a moderate increase in heart rate in the two groups (20±11 in controls vs. 22±10 in LBBB patients, p=NS). In controls, the intervention reduced LVEF from 60±4% to 54±6% and global longitudinal strain (GLS) from 20.8±2.5% to 18.4±2.4% (both p<0.01). In LBBB patients, reduction in systolic function during increased afterload was substantially larger with LVEF decreasing from 56±6% to 42±7% and GLS from 17.1±2.2% to 12.4±1.8% (both p<0.01) (Figure 9). The absolute reduction in LVEF was 7% in controls and 14% in LBBB patients (95% CI: 3-10% and 11-17%, respectively; p<0.01). Similarly, the absolute reduction in GLS was 2.3% in controls and 4.7% in LBBB patients (95% CI: 1.0-3.6% and 3.7-5.7%, respectively; p<0.01).

Afterload hypersensitivity in patients with LBBB was attributed to reduction in septal function, which was further explored in the experimental model.

Experimental study

During control conditions, aortic constriction caused only moderate reductions in regional LV function. During LBBB, however, aortic constriction caused marked reduction in septal systolic shortening (1.2±0.5 to 0.0±0.8 mm, p<0.02). This was mainly due to reduced septal shortening or even lengthening in the ejection phase when LVP was at its peak and was reflected in the septal pressure-dimension loop (Figure 10). Septal work became net negative during increased afterload (78±171 to -161±160 mmHg·mm, p<0.01), which indicates complete loss of septal contribution to LV systolic function. There was no significant change in LV lateral wall shortening or work.



Figure 9. Clinical data. Response to increased afterload. During increased systolic blood pressure there is marked reduction in LV ejection fraction and global longitudinal strain among LBBB patients (right panel) which is significantly different from the moderate reduction seen in controls (left panel). Modified from Aalen et al. with permission (118). LBBB = left bundle branch block, LV = left ventricular.



Figure 10. Pressure-strain loops from a representative LBBB patient (left) and pressure-segment length loops from a representative animal after induction of LBBB (right). Septal loops show reduced positive work already at baseline as indicated by a small loop area. During increased afterload septal dysfunction is aggravated with clockwise rotation indicating negative work. LV lateral wall work, on the other hand, is preserved. Reproduced with permission (118). LBBB = left bundle branch block, LV = left ventricular, LVP = left ventricular pressure.

Paper 2

Experimental study

Induction of LBBB was followed by abnormal septal motion with preejection shortening, rebound stretch and substantially reduced septal systolic shortening in all animals. During CX occlusion, LV lateral wall shortening decreased from 5.0 ± 1.2 mm to 0.5 ± 1.0 mm (p<0.001) and was accompanied by marked changes in septal deformation (Figure 11). Septal rebound stretch was markedly reduced (1.4 ± 0.6 to 0.2 ± 0.2 mm, p<0.001) and septal systolic shortening was restored to similar values as before induction of LBBB. Furthermore, there was a substantial increase in septal work from 5 ± 62 to 108 ± 47 mmHg·mm (p<0.001).

During LAD occlusion, we observed opposite changes in septal deformation. Septal rebound stretch increased and septal systolic shortening was substantially reduced (Figure 11).

QRS duration was unchanged during both CX and LAD occlusion.

Clinical study

Similar to the experimental study, patients with LBBB and posterolateral wall scars had severely depressed function in the LV lateral wall. This was accompanied by lack of septal rebound stretch and far better septal systolic shortening than non-ischemic LBBB patients (10.7±4.4 vs. 2.2±3.5%, p<0.001) (Figure 11). There were corresponding differences in LV lateral wall and septal work, where septal work on average exceeded LV lateral wall work in patients with posterolateral scars, which resulted in a negative LW-S work difference.

For LBBB patients with anteroseptal scars, we observed abnormal septal motion with similar rebound stretch and septal systolic shortening as non-ischemic patients (Figure 11).

There were no significant differences in LVEF or QRS duration between the three patient groups.



Figure 11. Upper panels show strain traces from a representative animal during LBBB, LBBB with CX occlusion and LBBB with LAD occlusion. Septal rebound stretch is lost and septal systolic shortening markedly improved with CX occlusion. Lower panels show strain traces and LGE-CMR images from three representative LBBB patients. Similar to the experimental data, there is no septal rebound stretch and instead close to normal septal deformation in the patient with LV lateral wall scar. Reproduced with permission (119). AVC = aortic valve closure, CX = circumflex coronary artery, LAD = left anterior descending coronary artery, LBBB = left bundle branch block, LGE-CMR = late gadolinium-enhanced cardiac magnetic resonance imaging, LV = left ventricular.

Paper 3

Sixty-eight percent of patients responded to CRT in terms of reverse remodeling. As expected female gender, sinus rhythm and non-ischemic cardiomyopathy were more common among responders.

Prior to CRT, there was more LV lateral wall work and less septal work in responders as compared to non-responders (Figure 12). This was reflected in a substantially larger LW-S work difference (p<0.001). After 6 months with CRT, LV lateral wall work was reduced and septal work increased, which abolished the LW-S work difference in both responders and non-responders. Among responders, however, reduction in LV lateral wall work was far exceeded by increased septal work leading to improved global systolic function. In nonresponders, on the other hand, there were similar reduction in LV lateral wall work, but only a small increase in septal work resulting in no net benefit from CRT (Figure 12). In univariate linear regression analysis, there was correlation between reverse remodeling and LW-S work difference (r=0.44, p<0.001). Multivariate linear regression analysis including LW-S work difference, heart failure etiology (ischemic or non-ischemic), QRS duration and QRS morphology (LBBB or non-LBBB) revealed that LW-S work difference was an independent predictor of reverse remodeling (p<0.001). AUC for LW-S work difference for CRT response prediction was 0.77 (95% CI: 0.70-0.84) as compared with 0.56 for QRS morphology (95% CI: 0.47-0.64) and 0.54 (95% CI: 0.45-0.63) for QRS duration. A cut-off of 860 mmHg·% provided 83% sensitivity, 58% specificity, 80% positive predictive value, 63% negative predictive value and 75% accuracy for CRT response.

LGE-CMR was performed in 125 patients and scar was present in 61. Multivariate linear regression analysis including septal, inferior, anterior and LV lateral wall scar, found that only septal scar was an independent predictor of reverse remodeling (p<0.05). Furthermore, in multivariate analysis with septal scar, LW-S work difference, QRS duration and QRS morphology, only septal scar and LW-S work difference predicted reverse remodeling. A combined assessment of LW-S work difference and septal viability gave AUC 0.88 (95% CI: 0.81-0.95) for CRT response prediction and was similar in the subgroup of patients with QRS duration 120-150 ms. A cut-off of ≥725 provided 86% sensitivity, 84% specificity, 94% positive predictive value, 67% negative predictive value and 85% accuracy for CRT response.

The ROC-curve for LW-S work difference alone was somewhat better than systolic stretch index (p<0.05), but not significantly different from septal flash and apical rocking. The combined approach with work difference and viability, however, was superior to septal flash, apical rocking and systolic stretch index (all p<0.025).

Both LW-S work difference alone and combined with septal viability predicted reduced risk of heart transplantation or death at long-term follow-up (hazard ratio 0.36 (95% CI: 0.18-0.74) and 0.21 (95% CI: 0.072-0.61), respectively).

Intercenter variability for LW-S work difference was good with ICC 0.90 (95% CI: 0.84-0.94)) and average agreement for cut-off 860 mmHg·% of 89% (kappa range 0.65-0.85). Intercenter agreement for septal flash and apical rocking was moderate (68% (kappa range 0.16-0.46) and 70% (kappa range 0.25-0.69), respectively).



Figure 12. Work distribution in responders and non-responders before and after 6 months with CRT. Reproduced with permission (120). CRT = cardiac resynchronization therapy, LV = left ventricular.







Figure 13. Three patients illustrating main study findings. Upper panels: Strain traces, pressure-strain loops and LGE-CMR images from a non-ischemic LBBB patient who became a super-responder to CRT. There is predominantly negative septal work as indicated by the red colored septal pressure-strain loop area and preserved LV lateral wall work as indicated by the large grey colored loop area. This gives a large lateral wall-to-septal work difference and together with septal viability, it indicates potential for recovery of septal function with CRT. Mid panels: Similar to the super-responder this LBBB patient showed predominantly negative septal

work and a large lateral wall-to-septal work difference. LGE-CMR, however, revealed extensive septal scarring with less potential for recovery of septal function and the patient became a non-responder. Lower panels: LBBB patient with posterolateral scar and therefore negative work difference indicating little potential for recovery of LV function with CRT. The patient became a non-responder. Modified from Aalen et al. with permission (120). AVC = aortic valve closure, CRT = cardiac resynchronization therapy, ECG = electrocardiogram, LBBB = left bundle branch block, LGE-CMR = LGE-CMR = late gadolinium-enhanced cardiac magnetic resonance imaging, LV = left ventricular, LVP = left ventricular pressure.

9. DISCUSSION

In the present thesis, we have studied different aspects of LV dyssynchrony with special focus on consequences for myocardial function and CRT response. In paper 1, we found that LBBB patients are prone to moderate acute elevations of systolic blood pressure as they showed marked worsening of septal function with subsequent reduction in LV systolic function. In paper 2, we showed that reduced septal function during LV dyssynchrony is closely related to viability and function of the LV lateral wall. Therefore, in animals with LBBB and LV lateral wall ischemia, septal function was partly restored. In paper 3, we showed that response to CRT depends on markedly reduced septal function which is not due to septal scar, but instead due to electromechanical dyssynchrony with compensatory increased function in the LV lateral wall. In total, our findings support the notion that septal dysfunction is a key mechanism for reduced LV systolic function during LBBB and, hence, septal function should be the main target for improving LV function with CRT.

The effect of afterload on left ventricular systolic function

In paper 1, we showed that healthy control subjects experienced moderate reductions in LVEF and GLS during increased afterload. This does not represent a true reduction in LV systolic function, but is rather in line with normal afterload dependency of myofiber shortening (121, 122). It has previously been shown that both LVEF and GLS are afterload dependent (101, 123, 124) and this should always be kept in mind when using such parameters to evaluate LV systolic function. In this context, myocardial work, which integrates afterload, showed better accuracy with reduced number of false positives compared to strain alone to identify acute coronary occlusion in patients with non-STelevation acute coronary syndrome (112). Moreover, Chan et al. recently found higher values of global myocardial work in hypertensive patients as controls, but no difference in LVEF or GLS. The findings suggest compensatory increased myocardial work to preserve LVEF in patients with hypertension and may contribute to improve understanding of LV remodeling and HF development in such patients (113). Currently, there is lot of attention towards cardiotoxicity in patients undergoing oncologic treatment. Specifically, several studies have looked into the use of GLS for detection of early-stage cardiotoxicity and found that a 10% to 15% relative reduction in GLS seems to be the most useful parameter to predict subsequent drop in LVEF and development of HF (125). In this regard, we found that among healthy controls participating in the clinical study in paper 1, there was an average relative reduction in GLS during elevated afterload of 12% and that GLS was reduced by more than 15% in three of eleven individuals (126). In contrast, global myocardial work was preserved or increased. The increase in systolic blood pressure was in the range of what can be seen in many patients during medical consultation (127). The finding suggests that a cutoff of 15% reduction in GLS for cardiotoxicity may lead to false positives with the potential for unnecessary treatment and patient concern if blood pressure is not taken into consideration. The topic will be further explored in an ongoing study from our group.

It has previously been shown that hearts with reduced contractility are less tolerant to elevations of afterload (128, 129) and, furthermore, afterload-reducing treatment is a cornerstone in the treatment of HFrEF patients (59). As previously explained, both experimental and clinical studies have shown that LBBB itself causes reduced LV contractility (23-26). The findings in paper 1 supports this notion. Even though LVEF in LBBB patients was within normal limits and not significantly different from controls, there was significant difference in GLS which was lower in LBBB patients. Similar differences were seen with peak rate of LVP rise in the experimental study where animals served as their own controls. Therefore, one could argue that the finding of increased afterload sensitivity in LBBB patients was to be expected. The magnitude of the effect, however, could not be foreseen and the finding may have clinical implications.

Potential effects and implications of chronic elevated afterload in left bundle branch block

In paper 1, we studied the acute effect of afterload elevation within seconds after onset of the intervention. In clinical practice, we are most interested in the effect of chronic elevated afterload as seen in patients with arterial hypertension or aortic stenosis. There are important differences between acute and chronic afterload elevation. For example, the Anrep effect is an intrinsic myocardial autoregulation mechanism which leads to a compensatory increase in contractility when afterload is increased for several minutes (130). Therefore, one would expect the Anrep effect to partially counteract the reduction in LVEF and GLS if our intervention lasted for a longer period. Additionally, an acute intervention does not take into account LV remodeling in response to longstanding elevated afterload. In total, it is likely that the observed reduction in LVEF and GLS would be less in the setting of chronic elevated afterload.

A relevant clinical question is whether LBBB patients with arterial hypertension or aortic stenosis are more prone to HF development due to increased afterload sensitivity and whether this has implications for treatment of such patients. In the previously mentioned LIFE study, which followed patients with hypertension, echocardiography was performed in a subpopulation including 47 LBBB patients (131). There were no significant differences between LBBB patients and controls with regards to blood pressure, previous myocardial infarction or age. Systolic function, however, was reduced in LBBB patients both in terms of LVEF and stroke volume. Additionally, for the whole LIFE population (including 564 LBBB patients), there was no increased risk of myocardial infarction in LBBB patients, but still a

1.7-fold increased risk for HF hospitalization and 1.6-fold increased risk for cardiovascular death (22). These findings suggest hypertension and LBBB as a particularly negative combination with regard to HF development. This being said, we do not know how such a comparison would look in an otherwise similar normotensive population and, as previously explained, it has been shown that LBBB patients in general are more prone to HF development than patients with normal QRS duration. Moreover, it is not possible to rule out coexisting heart disease as a contributor to increased cardiovascular mortality and, in fact, for the whole LIFE population there was increased prevalence of previous cardiovascular disease among LBBB patients (33%) as compared to hypertensive patients with normal QRS duration (25%).

Another interesting finding is from the MADIT-CRT trial where LBBB patients treated with the afterload-reducing beta blocker carvedilol showed reduction in the combined endpoint HF hospitalizations and death compared to those treated with metoprolol, which has less effect on afterload (132). Furthermore, a recently published study on patients with aortic stenosis undergoing TAVR found improved LVEF after TAVR only in patients with pre-existing LBBB (133), possibly suggesting increased benefit from afterload reduction in LBBB patients.

At present, no specific treatment is recommended in asymptomatic patients with LBBB and preserved LV systolic function. Since development of HF is a significant problem in such patients (21, 134), it is important to identify and treat risk factors. If chronic afterload hypersensitivity can be proven, it may have consequences for antihypertensive treatment recommendations. Possibly, antihypertensive treatment should be initiated earlier and more aggressively than in patients with normal electrical conduction. There is need for future studies to address these questions.

Mechanisms of abnormal septal motion in left bundle branch block

Abnormal septal motion is the echocardiographic hallmark of LBBB and was first described in the early 1970s (34, 35, 135). Dillon et al. named the motion septal beaking and found that it was absent in selected patients with coronary artery disease (35). Renewed interest in abnormal septal motion was gained with the introduction of CRT in the 2000s. The rapid early-systolic color shift on color M-mode was named septal flash (38), which, as previously mentioned, has become a relatively well-known term in echocardiography. Numerous observational and retrospective studies have shown positive association between septal flash and CRT response (38, 94, 136-141), but septal flash has still not been tested in a randomized trial or included in CRT guidelines. Furthermore, there is no consistent definition of septal flash (142).

The first components of abnormal septal motion during LBBB are preejection septal shortening in the longitudinal and circumferential direction, sepal thickening in the radial direction and leftward septal motion (transverse motion). Immediately after, the opposite occurs with septal rebound stretch, septal thinning and paradoxical rightward septal motion. Towards end of systole there is premature termination of shortening and late-systolic septal stretch (2). The original definition of septal flash by Parsai et al. included both the leftward and the following paradoxical rightward septal motion (38), but more recently septal flash has been defined only as the leftward septal motion (143). Furthermore, preejection longitudinal shortening assessed by strain imaging is frequently counted as septal flash (143). Although this may seem like minor distinctions, it is of importance during certain conditions.

It was previously believed that right- and leftward septal motion were caused by delayed pressure build-up in the left ventricle. Rightward motion was caused by a transseptal pressure gradient in favor of the right ventricle so that the septum was forced leftwards like a passive membrane. As LVP finally exceeded RV pressure, the pressure gradient was reversed thereby causing rightward septal motion (144, 145). However, Gjesdal et al. and Remme et al. found that leftward septal motion had an active component as it occurred against rising LVP and a rising transseptal pressure gradient in favor of the left ventricle (103, 107). More recently, Walmsley et al. showed that leftward septal motion also has a passive component due to the early-activated RV free wall pulling on and straightening the septum (146). Furthermore, they found that during a scenario in which both the RV and LV free wall are late-activated (trifascicular block with combined RBBB and LBBB) the leftward septal motion would not occur, but there would still be preejection shortening and rebound stretch. These findings indicate that transverse septal motion compared to longitudinal and circumferential septal motion has a somewhat different underlying mechanism.

It was previously suggested by experimental and clinical studies (9, 42, 147) that septal rebound stretch is caused by contraction in the late-activated LV lateral wall. Leenders et al. found in a mathematical simulation study that rebound stretch is decreased by reduced LV lateral wall contractility and increased by reduced septal contractility (41). This is in line with the experimental study in paper 2 as well as the finding in patients with LV lateral wall scars and indicates that abnormal septal motion in LBBB is determined not only by the electrical conduction delay, but also by the balance of contractile forces in the septum and LV lateral wall. In paper 2, we showed that loss of LV lateral wall contractility also caused loss of paradoxical rightward septal motion, indicating that both septal rebound stretch and rightward septal motion depend on LV lateral wall function. This means that according to the chosen definition, septal flash may either include or not include assessment of LV lateral wall function. Assuming LV lateral wall contractility is a key determinant of LBBB-induced septal

dysfunction and recovery potential with CRT, it seems preferable that the term septal flash also includes rightward septal motion and rebound stretch.

Paper 1 is to our knowledge the first to show how abnormal septal motion in LBBB is strongly dependent on afterload and this has later been confirmed by Prinzen et al. (148). The finding suggests that blood pressure should be taken into account when evaluating patients for CRT based on abnormal septal motion.

Septal contractile function and its relation to left ventricular systolic function

In paper 1, septal work was about half the value of LV lateral wall work in LBBB patients during normal afterload. This difference was not reflected in LVEF, which was within normal limits and not significantly different from controls. GLS, however, was significantly reduced to subnormal values, which reflects reduced septal contribution to LV systolic function. It has previously been shown that uneven workload distribution with increased workload on the LV lateral wall may lead to LV remodeling with asymmetric hypertrophy (29). During increased afterload with subsequent reduction in LV systolic function, there was a further reduction of septal function. In fact, in the experimental study, septal work became net negative during elevated afterload, which means that septal contribution to LV systolic function was lost and instead the septum absorbed work performed by the LV free wall. Therefore, during LBBB and increased afterload, the workload asymmetry between the septum and LV lateral wall was aggravated and may be a mechanism of accelerated LV remodeling in patients with chronic elevated afterload.

In paper 3, workload asymmetry given as the difference in myocardial work between the LV lateral wall and septum (LW-S work difference) correlated with improvement in LV systolic function after CRT suggesting improved septal function as a main mechanism for CRT response. This was further supported by the observation that patients with reduced septal viability, and therefore with less potential for improvement in septal function, responded poorly. Moreover, patients with poor LV lateral wall function, as seen for example (but not solely) with posterolateral scars, showed less improvement with CRT. As previously mentioned, such finding has been attributed to failing of pacing delivery when the LV lead is positioned in a scar region. In accordance with the findings in paper 2, however, this could be explained by poor LV lateral wall contractions leading to less LBBB-induced impairment in septal function.

The LW-S work difference provides a comprehensive measure of the contractile disturbance in LBBB by including both the LBBB-induced reduction in septal function as well as LBBBinduced hyperfunction in the LV lateral wall. This implies that during severely reduced function in both walls (as for example in end-stage HFrEF), LBBB is not likely to be the main cause of septal dysfunction and resynchronization is less likely to help.

Septal viability

In contrast to the considerable focus on posterolateral scars, the literature on septal scar in CRT recipients is scarce. One study of 23 patients receiving CRT showed that absence of septal scar was a strong predictor of CRT response (149), whereas another study of 50 patients showed that septal scar was associated with poor acute and long-term response (150). In the latter study, the authors suggest problems with placing the RV lead in the septum to be the underlying mechanism of non-response. However, the importance of RV pacing for CRT response is questionable as also LV only pacing improves LV systolic function (105, 151). In paper 3, we showed that septal scar was a strong predictor of non-response to CRT and propose reduced septal recovery potential as the main mechanism. Moreover, as indicated in paper 3, it may be impossible to separate septal dysfunction primarily due to scar from septal dysfunction primarily caused by dyssynchrony with echocardiography and, hence, the present findings support the use of LGE-CMR for evaluation of CRT candidates.

A substantial number of patients undergoing evaluation for CRT are not candidates for LGE-CMR due to already implanted pacemaker device or poor kidney function. In such patients, nuclear imaging may serve as an alternative modality for viability assessment. Septal viability assessment, however, may not be feasible as reduced septal perfusion and metabolism reflecting reduced septal work are typical features of LBBB-induced dyssynchrony (50, 54, 55). The topic is currently being investigated.

Cardiac resynchronization therapy response

Defining CRT response

On group level in randomized trials, CRT has favorable effects on NYHA class, exercise capacity, quality of life, ventricular function, heart failure hospitalizations and death (66, 67, 152, 153). Still, it has proven rather challenging to find the optimal response criteria (154) and no consensus definition of response/non-response has so far been reached (155). In theory, some patients may respond to CRT despite declining LV function and increasing HF symptoms, as they would have been even worse without. Given the costs and potential for complications with CRT implantation, however, the response has to be at a certain level to be considered clinically meaningful.

Most studies on CRT response prediction have used LV reverse remodeling as a surrogate endpoint defined as $\geq 10\%$ or $\geq 15\%$ reduction in LV end-systolic volume at 6 or 12 months follow-up. Reverse remodeling provides both a binary (response yes/no) and a continuous endpoint (degree of reverse remodeling) in every patient. Furthermore, it works well independent of pre-implantation heart failure severity and symptoms (73) and is related to HF hospitalizations and mortality (156-158). However, interobserver variability for LV endsystolic volume is considerable (90) and it may seem paradoxical that patients with ischemic etiology have least reverse remodeling, but most survival benefit (73). Recently, it was shown that improvement in GLS at 6 months follow-up was associated with improved longterm outcome independent of reverse remodeling, suggesting these parameters to be assessed together (159).

Improvement of symptoms and physical capacity is one of the primary goals in HF treatment and therefore frequently used as CRT response parameter. It has been shown, however, that such parameters do not necessarily correlate well with mortality (156). Furthermore, it may be challenging to identify improvement in the group of patients with only modest symptoms (NYHA class 2) prior to device implantation (73).

HF hospitalizations, heart transplantation and survival are highly clinically relevant and standard endpoints in randomized trials. Over the last years, such hard endpoints have also been used to define CRT response in observational studies (40, 81, 94), but have limitations when patients are not randomized. For example, patients who survive after CRT may do so due to favorable prognostic factors which are independent of CRT. Therefore, identifying survivors is not the same as identifying responders. Similarly, patients who die within the study period may have experienced positive CRT response as they would have died even before without CRT.

In total, every response parameter has its pros and cons which encourages the use of more than one response parameter. This is also why composite endpoints like the Packer clinical composite score (160) are relatively often used. Moreover, it highlights the need for randomized controlled trials.

Reasons for CRT non-response

There are fundamentally two reasons why CRT may not work. Either the therapy is applied in the wrong patient or it is not optimally delivered. Correct patient selection was the main topic in paper 3 and will be further discussed below. Reasons for suboptimal CRT delivery include scar in the region of the LV lead, lack of an optimal coronary vein, lead dislocation, suboptimal device settings and too low percentage biventricular pacing. Paper 3 would for sure have benefited by a detailed analysis of non-responders with regards to lead placement and percentage biventricular pacing. Potentially, such analysis would reveal that some of the

patients who were thought to become responders based on work difference and septal viability, became non-responders due to suboptimal pacing. The analysis, however, should not have been limited to non-responders as some responders probably would have responded even better with optimal CRT delivery.

Other mechanisms of CRT response

A limitation in paper 3 as well as many other studies on predictors of CRT response is the unilateral focus on intraventricular dyssynchrony and improvement in LV function. As previously explained, CRT have several modes of action including AV dyssynchrony, prevention of fatal bradyarrhytmias and improvement of mitral regurgitation. Although most people consider the effects on LV function most important, there is no clear consensus regarding the relative importance of the different mechanisms (69). As an example, data from MADIT-CRT showed that patients without LBBB QRS morphology only responded when there was AV conduction block, suggesting that the mode of action for response in these patients was improved filling (68). Furthermore, an experimental study from Boe et al. showed that in HF with narrow QRS, CRT improved LV filling, but the beneficial effect was counteracted by pacing-induced decrease in LV systolic function (161). There has also been attention toward the impact of ventricular interaction and, in particular, poor RV function has been suggested as an independent determinant of non-response (162). In a recent study from our group, it was found that LBBB leads to reduced workload on the RV free wall due to abnormal rightward septal motion. When septal function was normalized by CRT, RV workload was increased and, hence, a failing RV may not be able to compensate (163). In addition, the ability to recruit RV work was found to explain why LV pacing is as effective as biventricular pacing with regards to acute improvement in LV function in LBBB (151). In total, there is need for more clinical data on the impact of these mechanisms on CRT response.

What do we need from a CRT response marker?

Ideally, a marker of CRT response should be easy and cheap to measure, highly reproducible and feasible, and discriminate between responders and non-responders with high accuracy. QRS morphology and QRS duration are cheap and reproducible, but have limitations with regards to accuracy. In non-ischemic patients with typical LBBB configuration and very wide QRS, likelihood of response is high and in patients with QRS shorter than 130 ms positive response to CRT is unlikely and, instead, mortality may be increased (74). Additional evaluation may therefore be most important in patients with intermediate QRS duration (130-150 ms), non-LBBB configuration and/or ischemic cause of heart failure. This being said, a recent study found 35% non-responders also among patients with class 1 ESC guidelines indication for CRT (140). For any given diagnostic test we extract sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value and negative predictive value. The relative importance of these four numbers, however, depends on the setting. To improve current guidelines for CRT, it is essential to avoid implanting non-responders. Therefore, it may be argued that high specificity and negative predictive value are most important for a CRT response marker. A relevant clinical question is what the negative predictive value must be to refuse implantation of CRT. In this context, the risk for complications as well as the economical aspect should be considered.

Work and viability as a CRT response marker

In paper 3, we show that both work difference alone and combined with septal viability predicts CRT response with added value to current guidelines. Results are consistent both for LV reverse remodeling as primary endpoint, the combination of all-cause mortality and heart transplantation as secondary endpoint, and improvement in Packer clinical composite score. Feasibility and reproducibility was good for work difference, but a limitation is that the work method is somewhat more time-consuming compared with methods based on pure visual assessment. Feasibility for LGE-CMR is a limitation as a substantial number of patients both in the study and real-life have non-compatible pacemaker devices or poor kidney function making them unsuitable for contrast injection. Moreover, CMR is resource demanding and less widely available than echocardiography. Accuracy was reasonable for work difference alone, but may still be too low for clinical use. For the combined work and viability approach, however, both overall accuracy and specificity were good. The results were strengthened by the prospective and multi-centric study design as well as the inclusion of all-comers (poor image quality, atrial fibrillation, upgrades). Furthermore, work and viability was superior to alternative stand-alone approaches such as septal flash, apical rocking and systolic stretch index. In total, the combined approach of work and viability seems promising, but feasibility for LGE-CMR is a significant limitation. Access to CMR, however, may increase in the future and most modern pacemaker devices are CMR compatible. Still, the approach needs further testing in a randomized controlled trial before clinical use can be recommended.

Alternative approaches

As previously explained, a large number of echocardiographic indices have been proposed for CRT response prediction, but so far none of them have made their way into the guidelines (59). During the last years there has been a shift away from timing-based indices towards specific patterns of electromechanical dyssynchrony. Currently, septal flash, apical rocking and systolic stretch index are among the most promising methods and they all predict survival after CRT (81, 94). So, what are the advantages and disadvantages with these methods? Septal flash and apical rocking are usually assessed visually and are in principle feasible in all patients with apical echocardiographic images. Furthermore, the method is quick and cheap, which is attractive in a busy echo lab. In typical cases it is easy to determine the presence of flash and rocking, but in our experience there are a relatively large number of cases with considerable doubt. It has been shown that augmentation of dyssynchrony by dobutamine stress echocardiography may help to categorize patients with borderline findings (164). However, as discussed above, the inconsistent definition of septal flash is also a challenge and may contribute to explain the substantial difference in reported prevalence even among patients with electrocardiographic LBBB configuration (94, 165). In addition, the intercenter variability for septal flash and apical rocking in paper 3 was considerable and substantially larger than for myocardial work. Readings, however, were performed without dedicated training and interobserver variability in expert centers has been substantially lower (94). Septal flash and apical rocking are qualitative parameters and, therefore, do not predict degree of response. This can be seen as a limitation since the expected degree of response may be clinically important, both in cases of limited resources and for patients with borderline indication. Predictive values of septal flash and apical rocking in paper 3 were similar to previous publications (94) and to work difference alone, but inferior to the combined approach of work and viability. It should be noted that readings used in the paper was performed in an expert center with extensive experience in the method.

Systolic stretch index is a strain-based method where contractile inefficiency is quantified as systolic stretch in the septum and LV posterolateral wall. Originally, it was calculated by radial strain (114), but more recently it has also been measured by longitudinal strain (81). In paper 2 and 3, we chose to calculate systolic stretch from longitudinal strain traces since small modifications of the region of interest may have large effects on radial strain values, leading to large interobserver variability (108). Additionally, in our experience, image quality is frequently insufficient for adequate tracking of radial strain. Using longitudinal strain, feasibility is similar as for LW-S work difference since both methods include septal and LV lateral wall strain. The systolic stretch index was developed based on computer simulations and it has been shown that it accounts for posterolateral scars (114), which was confirmed in paper 2. It is, however, more unclear whether it is able to identify septal scars. Increased stiffness and reduced contractility due to myocardial scar is likely to change the strain curves, but it may be hard to distinguish from pure electromechanical dyssynchrony in the individual patient with LV dyssynchrony. Accordingly, there was no significant difference in systolic stretch index between non-ischemic patients and patients with anteroseptal scars in paper 2. In paper 3, predictive values were borderline lower than for work difference alone, but substantially lower than the combined approach of work and viability.

Both septal flash, apical rocking, systolic stretch index and LW-S work difference assess the inefficient contraction pattern with loss of septal function and compensatory hyperfunction

of the LV lateral wall which is typical for LBBB and a key target for CRT. As stand-alone approaches they have different pros and cons, but the predictive values were relatively similar. It was found, however, that adding septal viability by LGE-CMR improved CRT response prediction considerably and this should therefore be considered independently of echocardiographic approach.

HF etiology and its relation to CRT response

In many patients, HF etiology is multifactorial. Coronary artery disease, valvular disease, hypertension, cardiotoxic treatment and genetic causes are important etiological factors. As previously explained, there is evolving evidence that LBBB can cause HF itself, but in most cases it is one of several factors. Assuming CRT can only partly correct the negative influence on LV function from LBBB, it may be useful to consider HF etiology in CRT candidates. For example, if a patient without any other detectable cardiac abnormality than LBBB eventually develops LV remodeling and HF, we can expect good response as the HF is solely caused by LBBB. In such patients, it may be that CRT should be implanted at an earlier stage than what is recommended by current guidelines (19, 20). On the other hand, when a patient with longstanding stable HF due to large post-infarct scar suddenly develops LBBB and worsened HF, we can only expect that CRT improves the component of HF which has evolved after onset LBBB.

LV dyssynchrony and CRT in patients without LBBB

As previously mentioned, LV dyssynchrony similar to what is seen in patients with classical LBBB, is often present in patients with RV pacing. Given the presence of septal flash or apical rocking, Stankovic et al. found that CRT response was similar for these patients as for LBBB patients (166). Another relevant situation is patients with combined RBBB and left anterior fascicle block. In such patients, there is early activation of the inferior wall and late activation of the anterior wall causing contraction pattern in the inferior wall similar to the septum in LBBB and contraction pattern in the anterior wall similar to the LV lateral wall in LBBB (167). Preliminary data indicates beneficial effect of CRT (167). Recently, it was also found that a number of patients with single-ventricle physiology after Fontan procedure showed typical strain pattern of LV dyssynchrony without LBBB (168). In total, it is likely that every scenario where regional delay of electrical activation leads to significant disturbance of LV contractile function can benefit from CRT. Importantly, however, mechanical dyssynchrony of non-electrical origin does not respond to CRT (74, 161).

Myocardial work in left bundle branch block

Myocardial work versus strain

In the present thesis, myocardial work is the most used parameter to quantify regional LV function. The main advantage of myocardial work over strain is the integration of afterload, which appears especially attractive when studying dyssynchrony.

As a large portion of septal shortening in LBBB occurs in early systole during low LVP, it represents only a small amount of work with minimal energy use. Therefore, normal values of septal shortening during dyssynchrony does not necessarily imply normal septal function. This was illustrated by the finding of low septal work in LBBB patients with peak septal shortening within the normal range (169). However, due to late-systolic stretch, septal end-systolic shortening is usually lower than peak septal shortening during dyssynchrony. As end-systolic values reflect net segmental shortening during systole, such values are likely to be more informative on septal performance during dyssynchrony than peak values. This is the reason why we reported segmental systolic shortening as end-systolic values.

The work method quantifies wasted energy as negative work and provides direct insight into myocardial metabolism (50). Septal systolic stretch means that the septum absorbs work performed by the LV free wall which is termed wasted since this work does not contribute to ejecting blood into the aorta. Such wasted energy may also be assessed by strain as for example with the systolic stretch index, but a pure strain parameter does not quantify energy to a similar extent as pressure is not taken into account.

Myocardial work for CRT response prediction

Myocardial work has previously been shown to predict CRT response both acutely in terms of stroke work (170) as well as long-term in terms of reverse remodeling and mortality (171-175). Compared to the study in paper 3, however, previous studies have been single center and either small and/or retrospective and have not included LGE-CMR as viability assessment. Most of them have focused on indices of global rather than regional work. Global values may be more robust, but less sensitive since the contractile inefficiency in LBBB primarily affects the septum and LV lateral wall.

Methodological considerations

Myocardial work

Myocardial work based on strain from echocardiography and brachial systolic cuff pressure has several limitations. Importantly, the use of pressure instead of force/wall stress and

strain instead of segment length does not provide a measure of work per se which is given in joules, but rather an index of myocardial work with the unit mmHg·%.

During dyssynchrony, wall thickness and radius of curvature differs between different segments within the left ventricle at a given time-point. As an example, in LBBB the earlysystolic leftward septal motion leads to septal thickening and flattening when the LV lateral wall is still stretched. Such differences in regional wall stress is not taken into consideration when using pressure and may be important for regional work calculations. Furthermore, wall stress is substantially lower in a normal-sized ventricle compared with a ventricle that has undergone eccentric remodeling, which is the case with most CRT patients. In a small analysis of experimental LBBB data, however, there was good correlation between work calculated with pressure and wall stress (50). Moreover, in a study of myocardial ischemia, there were similar findings with pressure-segment length loops as with force-segment length loops (49). Although optimal, precise measurement of force is complicated. The previously mentioned law of Laplace is most frequently used and requires continuous measurement of both radius of curvature and wall thickness. These measurements are hard to obtain in daily clinical practice. In addition, estimating wall stress based on Laplace's principle assumes a symmetric geometry where wall thickness is considerably smaller than the cavity diameter. Hence, this calculation may be less accurate in the heart where these assumptions are not necessarily valid. It is important to emphasize that even though force would change the numeric work value compared with pressure, positive work would still be positive and negative work still negative. Therefore, the major differences between work in the septum and LV lateral wall in LBBB would still persist.

The methodology and built-in limitations of the non-invasive pressure curve was described in the methods section. As explained, timing of valvular events are important for the pressure estimate, but it has been shown that small offsets are not critical (50). Patients with atrial fibrillation, on the other hand, represent a challenge. In atrial fibrillation, LVP varies substantially from beat to beat, but this is hard to capture when measuring systolic blood pressure. In paper 3, we included a number of patients with atrial fibrillation and used the same average systolic pressure for all beats when calculating myocardial work. Although not likely to change the work difference substantially, this represents a fundamental limitation to the method.

Unlike segment length, strain is a measure of relative deformation. This is important when comparing hearts of different size (124). 2 mm shortening can for example give absolute strain values of 10% or 20% depending on whether end-diastolic length is 20 mm or 10 mm. This means that hearts of different sizes may perform the same amount of work with substantial differences in strain.

The work method was originally validated for speckle-tracking strain from echocardiography, but it was recently shown that feature-tracking strain derived from CMR may serve as a feasible alternative in patients with dyssynchrony (176). Compared to global strain, segmental strain is less reproducible and must be used with caution (177). Hence, the use of segmental strain represents a significant limitation to regional myocardial work analysis. Still, intercenter variability in paper 3 was relatively good, which may in part be due to the use of GE software which is probably the best for segmental strain analysis (178). Furthermore, segmental strain patterns which are especially important during dyssynchrony, seems to be more robust than peak and end-systolic values (177).

Importantly, myocardial work is currently not recommended for clinical use and should still be used as a research tool. Given technical progress, the use of three-dimensional echocardiography to obtain strain, valvular events, radius of curvature and wall thickness from a single view appears as an attractive future approach.

Experimental studies

The experimental studies enabled interventions with detailed hemodynamic assessment in a controlled setting. A major advantage is that every animal serves as its own control, thereby reducing the number of experiments needed. There are, however, some important limitations. First, the animals were heavily instrumented and under general anesthesia with cardiodepressive effects. In particular, every intervention directly to the heart leads to tissue injury of a certain extent and may affect results. Second, the use of an open-chest model has hemodynamic effects on cardiac physiology and especially LV filling. Third, LBBB induced by radiofrequency ablation does not necessarily reproduce what is found in a heterogeneous patient population. Fourth, there were several hours between baseline (normal electrical conduction) and LBBB recordings, which may in itself lead to deterioration of cardiac function. Fifth, acute experiments do not reproduce the effect of long-term dyssynchrony such as adverse remodeling.

Combining clinical and experimental studies

When an observed phenomenon in patients is reproduced by performing a specific intervention in an experimental model, the hypothesis of causal relationship is strongly supported. In paper 1 and 2, the clinical and experimental approaches complemented each other in this way.

Specific limitations

In paper 1, patients and controls were age-matched, and patients with known coronary artery disease were excluded. Anyhow, the study was small and it may well be that some LBBB patients had underlying subclinical heart disease which could contribute to explain the observed differences in systolic function during increased afterload. Of note, three LBBB patients but no controls used beta blockers.

In paper 2, there was marked difference between experimental findings during septal ischemia and clinical findings in patients with septal scars. In the animals, septal rebound stretch increased with septal ischemia which is in line with previous findings from computer modeling studies (41). In patients with anteroseptal scars, septal rebound stretch was instead similar as in patients with non-ischemic cardiomyopathy. There may be several explanations for this finding. First, septal rebound stretch varies greatly among patients with LBBB and non-ischemic cardiomyopathy. It may therefore be that comparison of relatively small patient groups is unable to demonstrate a real difference. Second, although both acute ischemia and post-infarct scars lead to reduced contractility, ischemic myocardium is relatively elastic as compared to stiff scar tissue (102). Hence, rebound stretch may be reduced in scar patients due to stiff tissue which is harder to stretch. Third, many patients with anteroseptal scars showed apical dyskinesia. Hence, the apex may have absorbed displaced blood that would otherwise have caused stretch in the septum. Anyhow, this is a topic that needs further studies and the present findings must be interpreted with caution.

In paper 3, the use of reverse remodeling as a primary surrogate endpoint is a limitation, but is to certain degree compensated for by the inclusion of long-term data on mortality and heart transplantation as a secondary endpoint. The number of deaths and heart transplants, however, was relatively low leading to wide hazard ratio confidence intervals.

Ethical considerations

In the present work, many patients and a number of healthy controls have participated. Since the decision to implant CRT and the implantation procedure has been according to clinical routine, there has not been any extra risk associated with the procedure. However, patients have undergone uncomfortable interventions (extremity cuff inflation for afterload increase), they have spent extra time at the hospital and they have undergone additional imaging (compared to clinical routine). Although most patients have appreciated the additional investigations and follow-up, there has been a number of incidental findings with need for further follow-up, which has caused some concern among affected patients. This underscores the need for proper informed consent and approval from the Regional Ethical Committee.

There are important ethical issues with animal studies and particularly with dogs. Therefore, in our lab, such experiments are performed under very strict conditions. We adhere to the three Rs of animal research. This means **replacement** with a different species or avoid the use of animals at all if possible. In the present research, animals have been used as the

interventions could not be satisfactory performed with computer modeling and is unethical to do in humans. Dogs have specifically been used since interventions are only technically feasible in large animals and since dog is the species where induced LBBB resembles LBBB most closely to what is seen in humans (179). Furthermore, pigs do not tolerate the necessary surgical instrumentation and have a higher risk of premature death. Care is taken to **reduce** the number of animals to an absolute minimum by careful planning and combining as many interventions as possible. We typically collect data for several studies in each animal and data is frequently used retrospectively for new studies, effectively reducing the number of experiments. We also continuously **refine** our surgery and instrumentation techniques to reduce complication rates and improve data quality. Moreover, the experiments are acute with the animal in general anesthesia from the beginning until it is euthanized at the end, limiting potential pain and discomfort to a minimum. Experiments are also performed in a designated operating theater with certified personnel and approved by the National Animal Experimentation Board. Still, the use of dogs for research is controversial and as computer modeling continues to improve, it is likely that the use of animals will be further reduced.

10. CONCLUSION

The present thesis provides new insight into the effects of LV dyssynchrony on myocardial function and how this is related to CRT response. Our findings strongly support that septal dysfunction with asymmetric workload is the main mechanism for reduced LV function in LBBB and, therefore, the main target for CRT. Furthermore, it shows how septal dysfunction depends on contractility in the LV lateral wall and how it is aggravated by increased afterload.

<u>Paper 1</u>

LBBB patients are markedly sensitive to moderate acute elevations of afterload as compared to healthy controls. This exaggerated afterload response was attributed to increased septal dysfunction.

<u>Paper 2</u>

Septal dysfunction and, in particular septal rebound stretch, in LBBB is highly dependent on contractile function in the LV lateral wall. Therefore, LV lateral wall ischemia leads to marked improvement of septal function.

<u>Paper 3</u>

Marked work asymmetry with septal dysfunction and preserved LV lateral wall function identified a contractile reserve eligible for CRT. Given septal viability, work asymmetry predicted CRT response with high accuracy. When septal dysfunction was due to scar and could not be restored by CRT, response was unlikely.

11. REFERENCES

1. Kass DA. An epidemic of dyssynchrony: but what does it mean? J Am Coll Cardiol. 2008;51(1):12-7.

2. Smiseth OA, Aalen JM. Mechanism of harm from left bundle branch block. Trends Cardiovasc Med. 2019;29(6):335-42.

3. Smiseth OA, Russell K, Skulstad H. The role of echocardiography in quantification of left ventricular dyssynchrony: state of the art and future directions. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2012;13(1):61-8.

Gorcsan J, 3rd, Abraham T, Agler DA, Bax JJ, Derumeaux G, Grimm RA, et al.
Echocardiography for cardiac resynchronization therapy: recommendations for performance and reporting--a report from the American Society of Echocardiography Dyssynchrony
Writing Group endorsed by the Heart Rhythm Society. J Am Soc Echocardiogr.
2008;21(3):191-213.

5. Brignole M, Auricchio A, Baron-Esquivias G, Bordachar P, Boriani G, Breithardt OA, et al. 2013 ESC guidelines on cardiac pacing and cardiac resynchronization therapy: the task force on cardiac pacing and resynchronization therapy of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Developed in collaboration with the European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA). Europace. 2013;15(8):1070-118.

6. Surkova E, Badano LP, Bellu R, Aruta P, Sambugaro F, Romeo G, et al. Left bundle branch block: from cardiac mechanics to clinical and diagnostic challenges. Europace. 2017;19(8):1251-71.

7. Surawicz B, Childers R, Deal BJ, Gettes LS, Bailey JJ, Gorgels A, et al. AHA/ACCF/HRS recommendations for the standardization and interpretation of the electrocardiogram: part III: intraventricular conduction disturbances: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Electrocardiography and Arrhythmias Committee, Council on Clinical Cardiology; the American College of Cardiology Foundation; and the Heart Rhythm Society: endorsed by the International Society for Computerized Electrocardiology. Circulation. 2009;119(10):e235-40.

8. Strauss DG, Selvester RH, Wagner GS. Defining left bundle branch block in the era of cardiac resynchronization therapy. Am J Cardiol. 2011;107(6):927-34.

9. Prinzen FW, Hunter WC, Wyman BT, McVeigh ER. Mapping of regional myocardial strain and work during ventricular pacing: Experimental study using magnetic resonance imaging tagging. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1999;33(6):1735-42.

10. Hardarson T, Arnason A, Eliasson GJ, Palsson K, Eyjolfsson K, Sigfusson N. Left bundle branch block: prevalence, incidence, follow-up and outcome. Eur Heart J. 1987;8(10):1075-9.

11. Eriksson P, Hansson PO, Eriksson H, Dellborg M. Bundle-branch block in a general male population: the study of men born 1913. Circulation. 1998;98(22):2494-500.

12. Lund LH, Benson L, Stahlberg M, Braunschweig F, Edner M, Dahlstrom U, et al. Age, prognostic impact of QRS prolongation and left bundle branch block, and utilization of

cardiac resynchronization therapy: findings from 14,713 patients in the Swedish Heart Failure Registry. Eur J Heart Fail. 2014;16(10):1073-81.

13. Fahy GJ, Pinski SL, Miller DP, McCabe N, Pye C, Walsh MJ, et al. Natural history of isolated bundle branch block. Am J Cardiol. 1996;77(14):1185-90.

14. Schneider JF, Thomas HE, Kreger BE, McNamara PM, Kannel WB. Newly acquired left bundle-branch block: the Framingham study. Ann Intern Med. 1979;90(3):303-10.

15. Vaillant C, Martins RP, Donal E, Leclercq C, Thebault C, Behar N, et al. Resolution of left bundle branch block-induced cardiomyopathy by cardiac resynchronization therapy. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;61(10):1089-95.

16. Zannad F, Huvelle E, Dickstein K, van Veldhuisen DJ, Stellbrink C, Kober L, et al. Left bundle branch block as a risk factor for progression to heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail. 2007;9(1):7-14.

17. Auffret V, Martins RP, Daubert C, Leclercq C, Le Breton H, Mabo P, et al. Idiopathic/latrogenic Left Bundle Branch Block-Induced Reversible Left Ventricle Dysfunction: JACC State-of-the-Art Review. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2018;72(24):3177-88.

18. Curtius JM, Stechern V, Kuhn H, Loogen F. Echocardiographic follow-up in latent cardiomyopathy. Z Kardiol. 1984;73(11):695-700.

19. Albakri A. Left bundle branch block-induced cardiomyopathy: A review and pooled analysis of pathophysiology, diagnosis and clinical management. Integrative Clinical Medicine. 2019;3(4).

20. Sze E, Daubert JP. Left bundle branch block-induced left ventricular remodeling and its potential for reverse remodeling. J Interv Card Electrophysiol. 2018;52(3):343-52.

21. Sze E, Dunning A, Loring Z, Atwater BD, Chiswell K, Daubert JP, et al. Comparison of Incidence of Left Ventricular Systolic Dysfunction Among Patients With Left Bundle Branch Block Versus Those With Normal QRS Duration. Am J Cardiol. 2017;120(11):1990-7.

22. Li Z, Dahlof B, Okin PM, Kjeldsen SE, Wachtell K, Ibsen H, et al. Left bundle branch block and cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in hypertensive patients with left ventricular hypertrophy: the Losartan Intervention For Endpoint Reduction in Hypertension study. J Hypertens. 2008;26(6):1244-9.

23. Verbeek XA, Vernooy K, Peschar M, Van Der Nagel T, Van Hunnik A, Prinzen FW. Quantification of interventricular asynchrony during LBBB and ventricular pacing. Am J Physiol-Heart C. 2002;283(4):H1370-H8.

24. Liu L, Tockman B, Girouard S, Pastore J, Walcott G, KenKnight B, et al. Left ventricular resynchronization therapy in a canine model of left bundle branch block. Am J Physiol-Heart C. 2002;282(6):H2238-H44.

25. Grines CL, Bashore TM, Boudoulas H, Olson S, Shafer P, Wooley CF. Functional abnormalities in isolated left bundle branch block. The effect of interventricular asynchrony. Circulation. 1989;79(4):845-53.

26. Ozdemir K, Altunkeser BB, Danis G, Ozdemir A, Uluca Y, Tokac M, et al. Effect of the isolated left bundle branch block on systolic and diastolic functions of left ventricle. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2001;14(11):1075-9.

27. Prinzen FW, Augustijn CH, Arts T, Allessie MA, Reneman RS. Redistribution of myocardial fiber strain and blood flow by asynchronous activation. Am J Physiol. 1990;259(2 Pt 2):H300-8.

28. Prinzen FW, Augustijn CH, Allessie MA, Arts T, Delhaas T, Reneman RS. The time sequence of electrical and mechanical activation during spontaneous beating and ectopic stimulation. Eur Heart J. 1992;13(4):535-43.

29. Prinzen FW, Cheriex EC, Delhaas T, van Oosterhout MF, Arts T, Wellens HJ, et al. Asymmetric thickness of the left ventricular wall resulting from asynchronous electric activation: a study in dogs with ventricular pacing and in patients with left bundle branch block. Am Heart J. 1995;130(5):1045-53.

30. Russell K, Eriksen M, Aaberge L, Wilhelmsen N, Skulstad H, Gjesdal O, et al. Assessment of wasted myocardial work: a novel method to quantify energy loss due to uncoordinated left ventricular contractions. Am J Physiol-Heart C. 2013;305(7):H996-H1003.

31. Kanzaki H, Bazaz R, Schwartzman D, Dohi K, Sade LE, Gorcsan J, 3rd. A mechanism for immediate reduction in mitral regurgitation after cardiac resynchronization therapy: insights from mechanical activation strain mapping. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2004;44(8):1619-25.

32. Breithardt OA, Sinha AM, Schwammenthal E, Bidaoui N, Markus KU, Franke A, et al. Acute effects of cardiac resynchronization therapy on functional mitral regurgitation in advanced systolic heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2003;41(5):765-70.

33. Cabrera-Bueno F, Molina-Mora MJ, Alzueta J, Pena-Hernandez J, Jimenez-Navarro M, Fernandez-Pastor J, et al. Persistence of secondary mitral regurgitation and response to cardiac resynchronization therapy. Eur J Echocardiogr. 2010;11(2):131-7.

34. McDonald IG. Echocardiographic demonstration of abnormal motion of the interventricular septum in left bundle branch block. Circulation. 1973;48(2):272-80.

35. Dillon JC, Chang S, Feigenbaum H. Echocardiographic manifestations of left bundle branch block. Circulation. 1974;49(5):876-80.

36. Yu CM, Fung WH, Lin H, Zhang Q, Sanderson JE, Lau CP. Predictors of left ventricular reverse remodeling after cardiac resynchronization therapy for heart failure secondary to idiopathic dilated or ischemic cardiomyopathy. Am J Cardiol. 2003;91(6):684-8.

37. Pitzalis MV, Iacoviello M, Romito R, Massari F, Rizzon B, Luzzi G, et al. Cardiac resynchronization therapy tailored by echocardiographic evaluation of ventricular asynchrony. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2002;40(9):1615-22.

38. Parsai C, Bijnens B, Sutherland GR, Baltabaeva A, Claus P, Marciniak M, et al. Toward understanding response to cardiac resynchronization therapy: left ventricular dyssynchrony is only one of multiple mechanisms. Eur Heart J. 2009;30(8):940-9.

39. Voigt JU, Schneider TM, Korder S, Szulik M, Gurel E, Daniel WG, et al. Apical transverse motion as surrogate parameter to determine regional left ventricular function inhomogeneities: a new, integrative approach to left ventricular asynchrony assessment. Eur Heart J. 2009;30(8):959-68.

40. Risum N, Tayal B, Hansen TF, Bruun NE, Jensen MT, Lauridsen TK, et al. Identification of Typical Left Bundle Branch Block Contraction by Strain Echocardiography Is Additive to Electrocardiography in Prediction of Long-Term Outcome After Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015;66(6):631-41.

41. Leenders GE, Lumens J, Cramer MJ, De Boeck BWL, Doevendans PA, Delhaas T, et al. Septal Deformation Patterns Delineate Mechanical Dyssynchrony and Regional Differences in Contractility Analysis of Patient Data Using a Computer Model. Circ-Heart Fail. 2012;5(1):87-96.

42. De Boeck BW, Teske AJ, Meine M, Leenders GE, Cramer MJ, Prinzen FW, et al. Septal rebound stretch reflects the functional substrate to cardiac resynchronization therapy and predicts volumetric and neurohormonal response. Eur J Heart Fail. 2009;11(9):863-71.

43. Menet A, Bernard A, Tribouilloy C, Leclercq C, Gevaert C, Guyomar Y, et al. Clinical significance of septal deformation patterns in heart failure patients receiving cardiac resynchronization therapy. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2016;0:1-10.

44. Basford JR. The Law of Laplace and its relevance to contemporary medicine and rehabilitation. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2002;83(8):1165-70.

45. Westerhof N, Lankhaar JW, Westerhof BE. The arterial Windkessel. Med Biol Eng Comput. 2009;47(2):131-41.

46. Suga H. Total mechanical energy of a ventricle model and cardiac oxygen consumption. Am J Physiol. 1979;236(3):H498-505.

47. Hisano R, Cooper Gt. Correlation of force-length area with oxygen consumption in ferret papillary muscle. Circ Res. 1987;61(3):318-28.

48. Delhaas T, Arts T, Prinzen FW, Reneman RS. Regional fibre stress-fibre strain area as an estimate of regional blood flow and oxygen demand in the canine heart. J Physiol. 1994;477 (Pt 3):481-96.

49. Skulstad H, Edvardsen T, Urheim S, Rabben SI, Stugaard M, Lyseggen E, et al. Postsystolic shortening in ischemic myocardium: active contraction or passive recoil? Circulation. 2002;106(6):718-24.

50. Russell K, Eriksen M, Aaberge L, Wilhelmsen N, Skulstad H, Remme EW, et al. A novel clinical method for quantification of regional left ventricular pressure-strain loop area: a non-invasive index of myocardial work. Eur Heart J. 2012;33(6):724-33.

51. Duchenne J, Turco A, Unlu S, Pagourelias ED, Vunckx K, Degtiarova G, et al. Left Ventricular Remodeling Results in Homogenization of Myocardial Work Distribution. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2019;12(5):e007224. 52. Hubert A, Le Rolle V, Leclercq C, Galli E, Samset E, Casset C, et al. Estimation of myocardial work from pressure-strain loops analysis: an experimental evaluation. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2018;19(12):1372-9.

53. Manganaro R, Marchetta S, Dulgheru R, Ilardi F, Sugimoto T, Robinet S, et al. Echocardiographic reference ranges for normal non-invasive myocardial work indices: results from the EACVI NORRE study. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2019;20(5):582-90.

54. Vernooy K, Verbeek XA, Peschar M, Crijns HJ, Arts T, Cornelussen RN, et al. Left bundle branch block induces ventricular remodelling and functional septal hypoperfusion. Eur Heart J. 2005;26(1):91-8.

55. Ono S, Nohara R, Kambara H, Okuda K, Kawai C. Regional myocardial perfusion and glucose metabolism in experimental left bundle branch block. Circulation. 1992;85(3):1125-31.

56. Spragg DD, Leclercq C, Loghmani M, Faris OP, Tunin RS, DiSilvestre D, et al. Regional alterations in protein expression in the dyssynchronous failing heart. Circulation. 2003;108(8):929-32.

57. Cvijic M, Duchenne J, Unlu S, Michalski B, Aarones M, Winter S, et al. Timing of myocardial shortening determines left ventricular regional myocardial work and regional remodelling in hearts with conduction delays. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2018;19(8):941-9.

58. Vernooy K, Cornelussen RNM, Verbeek XAAM, Vanagt WYR, van Hunnik A, Kuiper M, et al. Cardiac resynchronization therapy cures dyssynchronopathy in canine left bundlebranch block hearts. Eur Heart J. 2007;28(17):2148-55.

59. Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD, Bueno H, Cleland JGF, Coats AJS, et al. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: The Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Developed with the special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. Eur J Heart Fail. 2016;18(8):891-975.

60. Lesyuk W, Kriza C, Kolominsky-Rabas P. Cost-of-illness studies in heart failure: a systematic review 2004-2016. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2018;18(1):74.

61. Owan TE, Hodge DO, Herges RM, Jacobsen SJ, Roger VL, Redfield MM. Trends in prevalence and outcome of heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. N Engl J Med. 2006;355(3):251-9.

62. McMurray JJ, Packer M, Desai AS, Gong J, Lefkowitz MP, Rizkala AR, et al. Angiotensin-neprilysin inhibition versus enalapril in heart failure. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(11):993-1004.

McMurray JJV, Solomon SD, Inzucchi SE, Kober L, Kosiborod MN, Martinez FA, et al.
Dapagliflozin in Patients with Heart Failure and Reduced Ejection Fraction. N Engl J Med.
2019;381(21):1995-2008.

64. Packer M, Anker SD, Butler J, Filippatos G, Pocock SJ, Carson P, et al. Cardiovascular and Renal Outcomes with Empagliflozin in Heart Failure. N Engl J Med. 2020:[E-pub ahead of print];10.1056/NEJMoa2022190.

65. Baldasseroni S, Opasich C, Gorini M, Lucci D, Marchionni N, Marini M, et al. Left bundle-branch block is associated with increased 1-year sudden and total mortality rate in 5517 outpatients with congestive heart failure: A report from the Italian Network on Congestive Heart Failure. Am Heart J. 2002;143(3):398-405.

66. Abraham WT, Fisher WG, Smith AL, Delurgio DB, Leon AR, Loh E, et al. Cardiac Resynchronization in Chronic Heart Failure. N Engl J Med. 2002;346(24):1845-53.

67. Cleland JG, Daubert JC, Erdmann E, Freemantle N, Gras D, Kappenberger L, et al. The effect of cardiac resynchronization on morbidity and mortality in heart failure. N Engl J Med. 2005;352(15):1539-49.

68. Kutyifa V, Stockburger M, Daubert JP, Holmqvist F, Olshansky B, Schuger C, et al. PR interval identifies clinical response in patients with non-left bundle branch block: a Multicenter Automatic Defibrillator Implantation Trial-Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy substudy. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2014;7(4):645-51.

69. Cleland JG, Tageldien A, Buga L, Wong K, Gorcsan J, 3rd. Should we be trying to define responders to cardiac resynchronization therapy? JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2010;3(5):541-9.

Kober L, Thune JJ, Nielsen JC, Haarbo J, Videbaek L, Korup E, et al. Defibrillator
Implantation in Patients with Nonischemic Systolic Heart Failure. N Engl J Med.
2016;375(13):1221-30.

71. Sze E, Samad Z, Dunning A, Campbell KB, Loring Z, Atwater BD, et al. Impaired Recovery of Left Ventricular Function in Patients With Cardiomyopathy and Left Bundle Branch Block. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2018;71(3):306-17.

72. Al-Majed NS, McAlister FA, Bakal JA, Ezekowitz JA. Meta-analysis: cardiac resynchronization therapy for patients with less symptomatic heart failure. Ann Intern Med. 2011;154(6):401-12.

73. Auricchio A, Prinzen FW. Non-responders to cardiac resynchronization therapy: the magnitude of the problem and the issues. Circ J. 2011;75(3):521-7.

74. Ruschitzka F, Abraham WT, Singh JP, Bax JJ, Borer JS, Brugada J, et al. Cardiacresynchronization therapy in heart failure with a narrow QRS complex. N Engl J Med. 2013;369(15):1395-405.

75. Khidir MJ, Delgado V, Ajmone Marsan N, Schalij MJ, Bax JJ. QRS duration versus morphology and survival after cardiac resynchronization therapy. ESC Heart Fail. 2017;4(1):23-30.

76. Cleland JG, Abraham WT, Linde C, Gold MR, Young JB, Claude Daubert J, et al. An individual patient meta-analysis of five randomized trials assessing the effects of cardiac resynchronization therapy on morbidity and mortality in patients with symptomatic heart failure. Eur Heart J. 2013;34(46):3547-56.

77. Cleland JG, Mareev Y, Linde C. Reflections on EchoCRT: sound guidance on QRS duration and morphology for CRT? Eur Heart J. 2015;36(30):1948-51.

78. Linde C, Abraham WT, Gold MR, Daubert JC, Tang ASL, Young JB, et al. Predictors of short-term clinical response to cardiac resynchronization therapy. Eur J Heart Fail. 2017;19(8):1056-63.

Poole JE, Singh JP, Birgersdotter-Green U. QRS Duration or QRS Morphology: What
Really Matters in Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy? J Am Coll Cardiol. 2016;67(9):1104-17.
Delgado-Montero A, Tayal B, Goda A, Ryo K, Marek JJ, Sugahara M, et al. Additive
Prognostic Value of Echocardiographic Global Longitudinal and Global Circumferential Strain
to Electrocardiographic Criteria in Patients With Heart Failure Undergoing Cardiac

Resynchronization Therapy. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging. 2016;9(6).

81. Gorcsan J, 3rd, Anderson CP, Tayal B, Sugahara M, Walmsley J, Starling RC, et al. Systolic Stretch Characterizes the Electromechanical Substrate Responsive to Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2019;12(9):1741-52.

82. Bleeker GB, Kaandorp TA, Lamb HJ, Boersma E, Steendijk P, de Roos A, et al. Effect of posterolateral scar tissue on clinical and echocardiographic improvement after cardiac resynchronization therapy. Circulation. 2006;113(7):969-76.

83. Chalil S, Stegemann B, Muhyaldeen SA, Khadjooi K, Foley PW, Smith RE, et al. Effect of posterolateral left ventricular scar on mortality and morbidity following cardiac resynchronization therapy. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2007;30(10):1201-9.

84. Delgado V, van Bommel RJ, Bertini M, Borleffs CJ, Marsan NA, Arnold CT, et al. Relative merits of left ventricular dyssynchrony, left ventricular lead position, and myocardial scar to predict long-term survival of ischemic heart failure patients undergoing cardiac resynchronization therapy. Circulation. 2011;123(1):70-8.

85. Birnie D, DeKemp RA, Ruddy TD, Tang AS, Guo A, Williams K, et al. Effect of lateral wall scar on reverse remodeling with cardiac resynchronization therapy. Heart Rhythm. 2009;6(12):1721-6.

86. Rademakers LM, van Kerckhoven R, van Deursen CJ, Strik M, van Hunnik A, Kuiper M, et al. Myocardial infarction does not preclude electrical and hemodynamic benefits of cardiac resynchronization therapy in dyssynchronous canine hearts. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2010;3(4):361-8.

87. Ginks MR, Duckett SG, Kapetanakis S, Bostock J, Hamid S, Shetty A, et al. Multi-site left ventricular pacing as a potential treatment for patients with postero-lateral scar: insights from cardiac magnetic resonance imaging and invasive haemodynamic assessment. Europace. 2012;14(3):373-9.

88. Huntjens PR, Walmsley J, Ploux S, Bordachar P, Prinzen FW, Delhaas T, et al. Influence of left ventricular lead position relative to scar location on response to cardiac resynchronization therapy: a model study. Europace. 2014;16(suppl 4):iv62-iv8.

89. Bax JJ, Marwick TH, Molhoek SG, Bleeker GB, van Erven L, Boersma E, et al. Left ventricular dyssynchrony predicts benefit of cardiac resynchronization therapy in patients with end-stage heart failure before pacemaker implantation. Am J Cardiol. 2003;92(10):1238-40.

90. Chung ES, Leon AR, Tavazzi L, Sun JP, Nihoyannopoulos P, Merlino J, et al. Results of the Predictors of Response to CRT (PROSPECT) trial. Circulation. 2008;117(20):2608-16.

91. Lumens J, Leenders GE, Cramer MJ, De Boeck BW, Doevendans PA, Prinzen FW, et al. Mechanistic evaluation of echocardiographic dyssynchrony indices: patient data combined with multiscale computer simulations. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging. 2012;5(4):491-9.

92. Miyazaki C, Redfield MM, Powell BD, Lin GM, Herges RM, Hodge DO, et al. Dyssynchrony indices to predict response to cardiac resynchronization therapy: a comprehensive prospective single-center study. Circ Heart Fail. 2010;3(5):565-73.

93. Russell K, Opdahl A, Remme EW, Gjesdal O, Skulstad H, Kongsgaard E, et al. Evaluation of left ventricular dyssynchrony by onset of active myocardial force generation: a novel method that differentiates between electrical and mechanical etiologies. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging. 2010;3(4):405-14.

94. Stankovic I, Prinz C, Ciarka A, Daraban AM, Kotrc M, Aarones M, et al. Relationship of visually assessed apical rocking and septal flash to response and long-term survival following cardiac resynchronization therapy (PREDICT-CRT). Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2016;17(3):262-9.

95. Maass AH, Vernooy K, Wijers SC, van 't Sant J, Cramer MJ, Meine M, et al. Refining success of cardiac resynchronization therapy using a simple score predicting the amount of reverse ventricular remodelling: results from the Markers and Response to CRT (MARC) study. Europace. 2018;20(2):e1-e10.

96. Ogano M, Iwasaki YK, Tanabe J, Takagi H, Umemoto T, Hayashi M, et al. Cardiac resynchronization therapy restored ventricular septal myocardial perfusion and enhanced ventricular remodeling in patients with nonischemic cardiomyopathy presenting with left bundle branch block. Heart Rhythm. 2014;11(5):836-41.

97. Saba S, Marek J, Schwartzman D, Jain S, Adelstein E, White P, et al. Echocardiographyguided left ventricular lead placement for cardiac resynchronization therapy: results of the Speckle Tracking Assisted Resynchronization Therapy for Electrode Region trial. Circ Heart Fail. 2013;6(3):427-34.

98. Khan FZ, Virdee MS, Palmer CR, Pugh PJ, O'Halloran D, Elsik M, et al. Targeted left ventricular lead placement to guide cardiac resynchronization therapy: the TARGET study: a randomized, controlled trial. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2012;59(17):1509-18.

99. Antoniadis AP, Behar JM, Claridge S, Jackson T, Sohal M, Rinaldi CA. Multisite Pacing for Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy: Promise and Pitfalls. Curr Cardiol Rep. 2016;18(7):64.

100. Birnie D, Lemke B, Aonuma K, Krum H, Lee KL, Gasparini M, et al. Clinical outcomes with synchronized left ventricular pacing: analysis of the adaptive CRT trial. Heart Rhythm. 2013;10(9):1368-74.

101. Urheim S, Edvardsen T, Torp H, Angelsen B, Smiseth OA. Myocardial strain by Doppler echocardiography. Validation of a new method to quantify regional myocardial function. Circulation. 2000;102(10):1158-64.

102. Lyseggen E, Skulstad H, Helle-Valle T, Vartdal T, Urheim S, Rabben SI, et al. Myocardial strain analysis in acute coronary occlusion: a tool to assess myocardial viability and reperfusion. Circulation. 2005;112(25):3901-10.

103. Gjesdal O, Remme EW, Opdahl A, Skulstad H, Russell K, Kongsgaard E, et al. Mechanisms of abnormal systolic motion of the interventricular septum during left bundlebranch block. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging. 2011;4(3):264-73.

104. Opdahl A, Remme EW, Helle-Valle T, Lyseggen E, Vartdal T, Pettersen E, et al. Determinants of left ventricular early-diastolic lengthening velocity: independent contributions from left ventricular relaxation, restoring forces, and lengthening load. Circulation. 2009;119(19):2578-86.

105. Leclercq C, Faris O, Tunin R, Johnson J, Kato R, Evans F, et al. Systolic improvement and mechanical resynchronization does not require electrical synchrony in the dilated failing heart with left bundle-branch block. Circulation. 2002;106(14):1760-3.

106. Kivowitz C, Parmley WW, Donoso R, Marcus H, Ganz W, Swan HJC. Effects of
Isometric Exercise on Cardiac Performance: The Grip Test. Circulation. 1971;44(6):994-1002.
107. Remme EW, Niederer S, Gjesdal O, Russell K, Hyde ER, Smith N, et al. Factors

determining the magnitude of the pre-ejection leftward septal motion in left bundle branch block. Europace. 2015;18(12):1905-13.

108. Smiseth OA, Torp H, Opdahl A, Haugaa KH, Urheim S. Myocardial strain imaging: how useful is it in clinical decision making? Eur Heart J. 2016;37(15):1196-207.

109. Helm RH, Leclercq C, Faris OP, Ozturk C, McVeigh E, Lardo AC, et al. Cardiac dyssynchrony analysis using circumferential versus longitudinal strain - Implications for assessing cardiac resynchronization. Circulation. 2005;111(21):2760-7.

110. Delgado V, Ypenburg C, van Bommel RJ, Tops LF, Mollema SA, Marsan NA, et al. Assessment of left ventricular dyssynchrony by speckle tracking strain imaging - Comparison between longitudinal, circumferential, and radial strain in cardiac resynchronization therapy. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2008;51(20):1944-52.

111. Mada RO, Lysyansky P, Daraban AM, Duchenne J, Voigt JU. How to define enddiastole and end-systole?: Impact of timing on strain measurements. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2015;8(2):148-57.

112. Boe E, Russell K, Eek C, Eriksen M, Remme EW, Smiseth OA, et al. Non-invasive myocardial work index identifies acute coronary occlusion in patients with non-ST-segment elevation-acute coronary syndrome. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2015;16(11):1247-55.

113. Chan J, Edwards NFA, Khandheria BK, Shiino K, Sabapathy S, Anderson B, et al. A new approach to assess myocardial work by non-invasive left ventricular pressure-strain relations in hypertension and dilated cardiomyopathy. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2019;20(1):31-9.

114. Lumens J, Tayal B, Walmsley J, Delgado-Montero A, Huntjens PR, Schwartzman D, et al. Differentiating Electromechanical From Non-Electrical Substrates of Mechanical Discoordination to Identify Responders to Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging. 2015;8(9):e003744.

115. Engblom H, Tufvesson J, Jablonowski R, Carlsson M, Aletras AH, Hoffmann P, et al. A new automatic algorithm for quantification of myocardial infarction imaged by late gadolinium enhancement cardiovascular magnetic resonance: experimental validation and comparison to expert delineations in multi-center, multi-vendor patient data. Journal of Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance. 2016;18(1).

116. Thavendiranathan P, Grant AD, Negishi T, Plana JC, Popovic ZB, Marwick TH. Reproducibility of echocardiographic techniques for sequential assessment of left ventricular ejection fraction and volumes: application to patients undergoing cancer chemotherapy. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;61(1):77-84.

117. Demler OV, Pencina MJ, D'Agostino RB, Sr. Misuse of DeLong test to compare AUCs for nested models. Stat Med. 2012;31(23):2577-87.

118. Aalen J, Storsten P, Remme EW, Sirnes PA, Gjesdal O, Larsen CK, et al. Afterload Hypersensitivity in Patients With Left Bundle Branch Block. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2019;12(6):967-77.

119. Aalen JM, Remme EW, Larsen CK, Andersen OS, Krogh M, Duchenne J, et al. Mechanism of Abnormal Septal Motion in Left Bundle Branch Block: Role of Left Ventricular Wall Interactions and Myocardial Scar. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2019;12(12):2402-13.

120. Aalen JM, Donal E, Larsen CK, Duchenne J, Lederlin M, Cvijic M, et al. Imaging predictors of response to cardiac resynchronization therapy: left ventricular work asymmetry by echocardiography and septal viability by cardiac magnetic resonance. Eur Heart J. 2020:[E-pub ahead of print];10.1093/eurheartj/ehaa603.

121. Siegel JH, Sonnenblick EH. Isometric Time-Tension Relationships as an Index of Myocardial Contractility. Circ Res. 1963;12(6):597-610.

122. Leite-Moreira AF, Gillebert TC. Nonuniform course of left ventricular pressure fall and its regulation by load and contractile state. Circulation. 1994;90(5):2481-91.

123. Kass DA, Maughan WL, Guo ZM, Kono A, Sunagawa K, Sagawa K. Comparative influence of load versus inotropic states on indexes of ventricular contractility: experimental and theoretical analysis based on pressure-volume relationships. Circulation. 1987;76(6):1422-36.

124. Rosner A, Bijnens B, Hansen M, How OJ, Aarsaether E, Muller S, et al. Left ventricular size determines tissue Doppler-derived longitudinal strain and strain rate. Eur J Echocardiogr. 2009;10(2):271-7.

125. Thavendiranathan P, Poulin F, Lim KD, Plana JC, Woo A, Marwick TH. Use of myocardial strain imaging by echocardiography for the early detection of cardiotoxicity in patients during and after cancer chemotherapy: a systematic review. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014;63(25 Pt A):2751-68.

126. Sletten O, Aalen J, Larsen CK, Storsten P, Sirnes PA, Remme EW, et al. Left ventricular global work is superior to global strain for assessing ventricular function during elevated afterload. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2019;20(suppl 1):i329. Abstract.

127. Mancia G. Effects of Blood-Pressure Measurement by the Doctor on Patient's Blood Pressure and Heart Rate. The Lancet. 1983;322(8352):695-8.

128. Ross J, Jr. Afterload mismatch and preload reserve: a conceptual framework for the analysis of ventricular function. Prog Cardiovasc Dis. 1976;18(4):255-64.

129. Myhre ESP, Johansen A, Bjornstad J, Piene H. The Effect of Contractility and Preload on Matching between the Canine Left-Ventricle and Afterload. Circulation. 1986;73(1):161-71.

130. von Anrep G. On the part played by the suprarenals in the normal vascular reactions of the body. J Physiol. 1912;45(5):307-17.

131. Li ZB, Wachtell K, Okin PM, Gerdts E, Liu JE, Nieminen MS, et al. Association of left bundle branch block with left ventricular structure and function in hypertensive patients with left ventricular hypertrophy: the LIFE study. J Hum Hypertens. 2004;18(6):397-402.

132. Ruwald MH, Ruwald AC, Jons C, Alexis J, McNitt S, Zareba W, et al. Effect of metoprolol versus carvedilol on outcomes in MADIT-CRT (multicenter automatic defibrillator implantation trial with cardiac resynchronization therapy). J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;61(14):1518-26.

133. Klaeboe LG, Brekke PH, Lie OH, Aaberge L, Haugaa KH, Edvardsen T. Classical mechanical dyssynchrony is rare in transcatheter aortic valve implantation-induced left bundle branch block. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2019;20(3):271-8.

134. Rasmussen PV, Skov MW, Ghouse J, Pietersen A, Hansen SM, Torp-Pedersen C, et al.
Clinical implications of electrocardiographic bundle branch block in primary care. Heart.
2019;105(15):1160-7.

135. Abbasi AS, Eber LM, MacAlpin RN, Kattus AA. Paradoxical motion of interventricular septum in left bundle branch block. Circulation. 1974;49(3):423-7.

136. Duckett SG, Camara O, Ginks MR, Bostock J, Chinchapatnam P, Sermesant M, et al. Relationship between endocardial activation sequences defined by high-density mapping to early septal contraction (septal flash) in patients with left bundle branch block undergoing cardiac resynchronization therapy. Europace. 2012;14(1):99-106.
137. Doltra A, Bijnens B, Tolosana JM, Borras R, Khatib M, Penela D, et al. Mechanical abnormalities detected with conventional echocardiography are associated with response and midterm survival in CRT. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2014;7(10):969-79.

138. Sohal M, Amraoui S, Chen Z, Sammut E, Jackson T, Wright M, et al. Combined identification of septal flash and absence of myocardial scar by cardiac magnetic resonance imaging improves prediction of response to cardiac resynchronization therapy. J Interv Card Electrophysiol. 2014;40(2):179-90.

139. Gabrielli L, Marincheva G, Bijnens B, Doltra A, Tolosana JM, Borras R, et al. Septal flash predicts cardiac resynchronization therapy response in patients with permanent atrial fibrillation. Europace. 2014;16(9):1342-9.

140. Beela AS, Unlu S, Duchenne J, Ciarka A, Daraban AM, Kotrc M, et al. Assessment of mechanical dyssynchrony can improve the prognostic value of guideline-based patient selection for cardiac resynchronization therapy. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2019;20(1):66-74.

141. Brunet-Bernard A, Marechaux S, Fauchier L, Guiot A, Fournet M, Reynaud A, et al. Combined score using clinical, electrocardiographic, and echocardiographic parameters to predict left ventricular remodeling in patients having had cardiac resynchronization therapy six months earlier. Am J Cardiol. 2014;113(12):2045-51.

142. Aalen JM, Smiseth OA. Editorial commentary: Septal flash - what is behind the flashy name? Trends Cardiovasc Med. 2020;30(2):123-4.

143. Calle S, Delens C, Kamoen V, De Pooter J, Timmermans F. Septal flash: At the heart of cardiac dyssynchrony. Trends Cardiovasc Med. 2020;30(2):115-22.

144. Little WC, Reeves RC, Arciniegas J, Katholi RE, Rogers EW. Mechanism of abnormal interventricular septal motion during delayed left ventricular activation. Circulation. 1982;65(7):1486-91.

145. Kingma I, Tyberg JV, Smith ER. Effects of diastolic transseptal pressure gradient on ventricular septal position and motion. Circulation. 1983;68(6):1304-14.

146. Walmsley J, Huntjens PR, Prinzen FW, Delhaas T, Lumens J. Septal flash and septal rebound stretch have different underlying mechanisms. Am J Physiol-Heart C. 2016;310(3):H394-H403.

147. De Boeck BW, Kirn B, Teske AJ, Hummeling RW, Doevendans PA, Cramer MJ, et al. Three-dimensional mapping of mechanical activation patterns, contractile dyssynchrony and dyscoordination by two-dimensional strain echocardiography: rationale and design of a novel software toolbox. Cardiovasc Ultrasound. 2008;6:22.

148. Prinzen FW, Willemen E, Lumens J. LBBB and High Afterload: A Dangerous Liaison? JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2019;12(6):978-80.

149. White JA, Yee R, Yuan X, Krahn A, Skanes A, Parker M, et al. Delayed enhancement magnetic resonance imaging predicts response to cardiac resynchronization therapy in patients with intraventricular dyssynchrony. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2006;48(10):1953-60.

150. Duckett SG, Ginks M, Shetty A, Kirubakaran S, Bostock J, Kapetanakis S, et al. Adverse response to cardiac resynchronisation therapy in patients with septal scar on cardiac MRI preventing a septal right ventricular lead position. J Interv Card Electrophysiol. 2012;33(2):151-60.

151. Lumens J, Ploux S, Strik M, Gorcsan J, 3rd, Cochet H, Derval N, et al. Comparative electromechanical and hemodynamic effects of left ventricular and biventricular pacing in dyssynchronous heart failure: electrical resynchronization versus left-right ventricular interaction. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;62(25):2395-403.

152. Bristow MR, Saxon LA, Boehmer J, Krueger S, Kass DA, De Marco T, et al. Cardiac-Resynchronization Therapy with or without an Implantable Defibrillator in Advanced Chronic Heart Failure. N Engl J Med. 2004;350(21):2140-50.

153. Goldenberg I, Kutyifa V, Klein HU, Cannom DS, Brown MW, Dan A, et al. Survival with cardiac-resynchronization therapy in mild heart failure. N Engl J Med. 2014;370(18):1694-701.

154. Tomassoni G. How to Define Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy Response. Journal of Innovations in Cardiac Rhythm Management. 2016;7(00):S1-S7.

155. Daubert C, Behar N, Martins RP, Mabo P, Leclercq C. Avoiding non-responders to cardiac resynchronization therapy: a practical guide. Eur Heart J. 2017;38(19):1463-72.

156. Yu CM, Bleeker GB, Fung JW, Schalij MJ, Zhang Q, van der Wall EE, et al. Left ventricular reverse remodeling but not clinical improvement predicts long-term survival after cardiac resynchronization therapy. Circulation. 2005;112(11):1580-6.

157. Ypenburg C, van Bommel RJ, Borleffs CJ, Bleeker GB, Boersma E, Schalij MJ, et al. Long-term prognosis after cardiac resynchronization therapy is related to the extent of left ventricular reverse remodeling at midterm follow-up. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2009;53(6):483-90.

158. Gold MR, Daubert C, Abraham WT, Ghio S, St John Sutton M, Hudnall JH, et al. The effect of reverse remodeling on long-term survival in mildly symptomatic patients with heart failure receiving cardiac resynchronization therapy: results of the REVERSE study. Heart Rhythm. 2015;12(3):524-30.

159. van der Bijl P, Kostyukevich MV, Khidir M, Ajmone Marsan N, Delgado V, Bax JJ. Left ventricular remodelling and change in left ventricular global longitudinal strain after cardiac resynchronization therapy: prognostic implications. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2019;20(10):1112-9.

160. Packer M. Proposal for a new clinical end point to evaluate the efficacy of drugs and devices in the treatment of chronic heart failure. J Card Fail. 2001;7(2):176-82.

161. Boe E, Russell K, Remme EW, Gjesdal O, Smiseth OA, Skulstad H. Cardiac responses to left ventricular pacing in hearts with normal electrical conduction: beneficial effect of improved filling is counteracted by dyssynchrony. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2014;307(3):H370-H8. 162. van Everdingen WM, Walmsley J, Cramer MJ, van Hagen I, De Boeck BWL, Meine M, et al. Echocardiographic Prediction of Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy Response Requires Analysis of Both Mechanical Dyssynchrony and Right Ventricular Function: A Combined Analysis of Patient Data and Computer Simulations. J Am Soc Echocardiogr.
2017;30(10):1012-20 e2.

163. Storsten P, Aalen JM, Boe E, Remme EW, Gjesdal O, Larsen CK, et al. Mechanical Effects on Right Ventricular Function From Left Bundle Branch Block and Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2020;13(7):1475-84.

164. Stankovic I, Aarones M, Smith HJ, Voros G, Kongsgaard E, Neskovic AN, et al. Dynamic relationship of left-ventricular dyssynchrony and contractile reserve in patients undergoing cardiac resynchronization therapy. Eur Heart J. 2014;35(1):48-55.

165. Corteville B, De Pooter J, De Backer T, El Haddad M, Stroobandt R, Timmermans F. The electrocardiographic characteristics of septal flash in patients with left bundle branch block. Europace. 2017;19(1):103-9.

166. Stankovic I, Prinz C, Ciarka A, Daraban AM, Mo Y, Aarones M, et al. Long-Term Outcome After CRT in the Presence of Mechanical Dyssynchrony Seen With Chronic RV Pacing or Intrinsic LBBB. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2017;10:1091-9.

167. Atwater BD, Wagner GS, Kisslo J, Risum N. The electromechanical substrate for response to cardiac resynchronization therapy in patients with right bundle branch block. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2017;40(12):1358-67.

168. Rosner A, Khalapyan T, Dalen H, McElhinney DB, Friedberg MK, Lui GK. Classic-Pattern Dyssynchrony in Adolescents and Adults With a Fontan Circulation. J Am Soc Echocardiogr.
2018;31(2):211-9.

169. Aalen J, Izci H, Duchenne J, Larsen CK, Storsten P, Sirnes PA, et al. Septal work is a more sensitive marker of myocardial dysfunction in dyssynchrony than strain. Eur Heart J. 2018;39(suppl 1):159. Abstract.

170. Zweerink A, de Roest GJ, Wu L, Nijveldt R, de Cock CC, van Rossum AC, et al. Prediction of Acute Response to Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy by Means of the Misbalance in Regional Left Ventricular Myocardial Work. J Card Fail. 2016;22(2):133-42.

171. van der Bijl P, Vo NM, Kostyukevich MV, Mertens B, Ajmone Marsan N, Delgado V, et al. Prognostic implications of global, left ventricular myocardial work efficiency before cardiac resynchronization therapy. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2019;20(12):1388-94.

172. Galli E, Leclercq C, Hubert A, Bernard A, Smiseth OA, Mabo P, et al. Role of myocardial constructive work in the identification of responders to CRT. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2018;19(9):1010-8.

173. Galli E, Leclercq C, Fournet M, Hubert A, Bernard A, Smiseth OA, et al. Value of Myocardial Work Estimation in the Prediction of Response to Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2018;31(2):220-30.

174. Galli E, Hubert A, Le Rolle V, Hernandez A, Smiseth OA, Mabo P, et al. Myocardial constructive work and cardiac mortality in resynchronization therapy candidates. Am Heart J. 2019;212:53-63.

175. Vecera J, Penicka M, Eriksen M, Russell K, Bartunek J, Vanderheyden M, et al. Wasted septal work in left ventricular dyssynchrony: a novel principle to predict response to cardiac resynchronization therapy. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2016;17(6):624-32.

176. Larsen CK, Aalen JM, Stokke C, Fjeld JG, Kongsgaard E, Duchenne J, et al. Regional myocardial work by cardiac magnetic resonance and non-invasive left ventricular pressure: a feasibility study in left bundle branch block. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2020;21(2):143-53.

177. Mirea O, Pagourelias ED, Duchenne J, Bogaert J, Thomas JD, Badano LP, et al.
Variability and Reproducibility of Segmental Longitudinal Strain Measurement: A Report
From the EACVI-ASE Strain Standardization Task Force. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging.
2018;11(1):15-24.

178. Mirea O, Pagourelias ED, Duchenne J, Bogaert J, Thomas JD, Badano LP, et al. Intervendor Differences in the Accuracy of Detecting Regional Functional Abnormalities: A Report From the EACVI-ASE Strain Standardization Task Force. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2018;11(1):25-34.

179. Strik M, van Middendorp LB, Vernooy K. Animal models of dyssynchrony. J Cardiovasc Transl Res. 2012;5(2):135-45.

Paper 3



European Heart Journal (2020) **0**, 1–11 European Society doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehaa603

Imaging predictors of response to cardiac resynchronization therapy: left ventricular work asymmetry by echocardiography and septal viability by cardiac magnetic resonance

John M. Aalen (b) ^{1,2,3}, Erwan Donal (b) ⁴, Camilla K. Larsen (b) ^{1,2,3}, Jürgen Duchenne^{5,6}, Mathieu Lederlin³, Marta Cvijic (b) ^{5,6}, Arnaud Hubert³, Gabor Voros^{5,6}, Christophe Leclercq³, Jan Bogaert (b) ^{7,8}, Einar Hopp (b) ⁹, Jan Gunnar Fjeld (b) ^{9,10}, Martin Penicka¹¹, Cecilia Linde (b) ¹², Odd O. Aalen (b) ¹³, Erik Kongsgård^{1,2,3}, Elena Galli³, Jens-Uwe Voigt (b) ^{5,6,†}, and Otto A. Smiseth^{1,2,3,*,†}

¹Institute for Surgical Research, Oslo University Hospital and University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway; ²Department of Cardiology, Oslo University Hospital, Rikshospitalet, N-0027 Oslo, Norway; ³Center for Cardiological Innovation, Oslo University Hospital and University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway ⁴Department of Cardiology, CHU Rennes and Inserm, LTSI, University of Rennes, Rennes, France ⁵Department of Cardiovascular Sciences, KU Leuven, Leuven, Belgium; ⁶Department of Cardiology, University Hospitals Leuven, Leuven, Belgium; ⁷Department of Imaging and Pathology, KU Leuven, Leuven, Belgium; ⁸Department of Radiology, University Hospitals Leuven, Leuven, Belgium; ⁹Division of Radiology and Nuclear Medicine, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway; ¹⁰Oslo Metropolitan University, Oslo, Norway; ¹¹Cardiovascular Center Aalst, OLV Clinic, Aalst, Belgium; ¹²Heart and Vascular Theme, Karolinska University Hospital and Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden; and ¹³Department of Biostatistics, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

Received 19 March 2020; revised 2 June 2020; editorial decision 2 July 2020; accepted 3 July 2020

Aims	Left ventricular (LV) failure in left bundle branch block is caused by loss of septal function and compensatory hyperfunction of the LV lateral wall (LW) which stimulates adverse remodelling. This study investigates if septal and LW function measured as myocardial work, alone and combined with assessment of septal viability, identifies responders to cardiac resynchronization therapy (CRT).
Methods and results	In a prospective multicentre study of 200 CRT recipients, myocardial work was measured by pressure-strain analysis and viability by cardiac magnetic resonance (CMR) imaging ($n = 125$). CRT response was defined as $\geq 15\%$ reduction in LV end-systolic volume after 6 months. Before CRT, septal work was markedly lower than LW work ($P < 0.0001$), and the difference was largest in CRT responders ($P < 0.001$). Work difference between septum and LW predicted CRT response with area under the curve (AUC) 0.77 (95% CI: 0.70–0.84) and was feasible in 98% of patients. In patients undergoing CMR, combining work difference and septal viability significantly increased AUC to 0.88 (95% CI: 0.81–0.95). This was superior to the predictive power of QRS morphology, QRS duration and the echocardiographic parameters septal flash, apical rocking, and systolic stretch index. Accuracy was similar for the subgroup of patients with QRS 120–150 ms as for the entire study group. Both work difference alone and work difference combined with septal viability predicted long-term survival without heart transplantation with hazard ratio 0.36 (95% CI: 0.18–0.74) and 0.21 (95% CI: 0.072–0.61), respectively.
Conclusion	Assessment of myocardial work and septal viability identified CRT responders with high accuracy.

[†] These authors shared the last authorship.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel: + 47 23 07 00 00, Fax: + 47 23 07 35 30, Email: otto.smiseth@ous-hf.no

[©] The Author(s) 2020. Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of the European Society of Cardiology.

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/), which permits non-commercial re-use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact journals.permissions@oup.com

Graphical Abstract



Keywords

Cardiac resynchronization therapy • Dyssynchrony • Heart failure • Left bundle branch block • Myocardial scar • Myocardial work

Introduction

Cardiac resynchronization therapy (CRT) is indicated in patients with symptomatic heart failure, reduced left ventricular (LV) ejection fraction (EF) and wide QRS in the electrocardiogram (ECG). A significant limitation of CRT is that 30–40% of patients show no improvement. In an effort to improve selection of patients for CRT, a number of echocardiographic measures of LV dyssynchrony have been tested, but none of these are proven to improve responder rate.¹ Therefore, current guidelines do not recommend echocardiographic measures of dyssynchrony or any other imaging tool when evaluating patients for CRT.²

In patients with left bundle branch block (LBBB), there is typically reduced contractile function of the interventricular septum which has a direct negative effect on global LV function, and there is compensatory hyperfunction of the LV lateral wall (LW) which stimulates adverse remodelling.³ It was proposed by Prinzen *et al.*^{3,4} that asymmetry in workload between the LW and septum could be a diagnostic indication for success of CRT. Furthermore, since restoration of

septal function is important for recovery of LV function, we suggest septal viability as another determinant of response to electrical resynchronization. Therefore, in addition to work asymmetry between LW and septum, which reflects the disturbance of LV function in LBBB, we suggest assessment of septal viability to determine the potential for recovery of LV function with CRT.

The present study investigates the hypothesis that LW-to-septal work asymmetry and septal viability determines response to CRT. We used regional LV work rather than shortening indices to measure function since work quantifies the asymmetry in workload between LW and septum which is typical for LBBB. Myocardial work was assessed by a method innovated by the group of Smiseth, which uses a non-invasive estimate of LV pressure (LVP) in combination with myocardial strain by speckle-tracking echocardiography (STE).⁵ Absolute rather than relative difference in work between LW and septum was used since septal work is often near zero in LBBB which results in large relative differences even when little work is done in the LW. Furthermore, the method takes into account reduced LW function due to LW scar, which is associated with non-response to

CRT.⁶ To address the second part of the hypothesis, that viable septum is important for CRT response, we used late gadolinium enhancement (LGE) cardiac magnetic resonance (CMR) imaging to assess myocardial scar.

A previous small feasibility study⁵ and retrospective single-centre studies suggest that the work method may have a role in selection of patients for CRT.^{7,8} The present study is the first clinical testing of the work method in a prospective multicentre study and investigates if myocardial work alone and combined with viability by LGE-CMR identifies responders to CRT with added value to current guidelines.

Methods

Study population

A total of 236 heart failure patients referred for CRT were prospectively included from Oslo University Hospital, Norway (n = 101), University Hospitals Leuven, Belgium (n = 50), Rennes University Hospital, France (n = 71), OLV Hospital Aalst, Belgium (n = 11), and Karolinska University Hospital, Sweden (n=3) between August 2015 and November 2017. This constitutes about one-third of patients who received CRT in the main contributing centres during the study period. Inclusion criterion was indication for CRT according to 2013 European Society of Cardiology (ESC) guidelines.⁹ Exclusion criteria contained recent myocardial infarction, recent cardiac surgery, and severe aortic stenosis. Thirty-six patients were excluded from the final analysis due to CRT not implanted (n = 24), study withdrawal (n = 4), lack of echocardiographic data (n = 7) or lead extraction due to endocarditis (n = 1). LGE-CMR was obtained in 125 of 200 remaining patients. Main reasons for not undergoing LGE-CMR were CMR non-compatible cardiac device (n = 42) and estimated glomerular filtration rate $<45 \text{ mL/min}/1.73 \text{m}^2$ (*n* = 11). For the remaining patients (n = 22), reasons included claustrophobia, intracranial metal implants, and logistical causes. Left bundle branch block was defined according to ESC guidelines.⁹

The study was approved by the respective Regional Ethics Committees and written informed consent was obtained from all study participants. The study was registered at clinicaltrials.gov (identifier NCT02525185).

Echocardiography and strain analysis

Echocardiography (Vivid E9 or E95 scanner, GE Vingmed Ultrasound AS, Horten, Norway) was performed before and 7 ± 1 months after CRT implantation. Recordings included two-dimensional (2D) grey-scale images from LV apical views for STE and timing of valvular events. Ventricular volumes and LVEF were obtained by biplane Simpson's method and blood pressure by the brachial cuff method at beginning of the examination.

Longitudinal strain was measured by STE and is presented as absolute values. In patients with atrial fibrillation, we analysed beats with approximately average heart rate. Frame rate was $66 \pm 11/s$.

Estimation of regional work

Myocardial work was calculated by a previously validated method.⁵ The work index (mmHg·%) was calculated by multiplying rate of segmental shortening (strain rate) with instantaneous LVP. This resulted in a measure of instantaneous power, which was integrated over time to give work as a function of time in systole, defined as the time interval from mitral valve closure to mitral valve opening. Work performed during segmental shortening (i.e. counter-clockwise rotation of the pressure-strain loop) was defined as positive and work during segmental lengthening (i.e.

clockwise rotation) as negative. Net myocardial work was calculated as the sum of positive (constructive) and negative (wasted) work for the given segment and globally as an average for all segments.

Regional work in the septum and LW was calculated as the average value of work from the respective basal and mid-ventricular segments in the apical four-chamber view. The absolute difference between net work in LW and septum (LW-S work difference) was used as a measure of asymmetry in workload. Myocardial work analysis was performed in Oslo by an observer blinded to volumetric measurements.

Alternative approaches

Septal flash¹⁰ and apical rocking¹¹ were assessed visually in Leuven by two experienced readers. A visual reader interpretation of scar burden¹² was not performed. Systolic stretch index¹³ was calculated from longitudinal strain traces as the sum of early-systolic stretch in the LW and septal systolic stretch.

Cardiac magnetic resonance and scar analysis

Prior to CRT implantation, patients were scanned with a 1.5 or 3.0 Tesla unit. LGE images were obtained after intravenous injection of either 0.15 or 0.20 mmol/kg gadoterate meglumine or 0.15 mmol/kg gadobenate dimeglumine. An experienced CMR radiologist made decision regarding presence of scar and, if positive, scar size was quantified semi-automatically in Segment software v2.0 R5270 from a stack of short-axis slices using a 17 segment model. We utilized the automatic algorithm EWA (expectation maximization, weighted intensity, a priori information).¹⁴ Myocardial scar was reported regionally as percentage of total amount of tissue per wall and globally as percentage of total amount of tissue in the left ventricle. All scars were analysed and reported the same way independent of underlying aetiology.

Cardiac resynchronization therapy implantation

Patients underwent standard implantation of a biventricular pacing system. The implanting electrophysiologist had access to CMR images but was blinded to myocardial work data. Coronary venography was used to optimize placement of the LV lead in a lateral or posterolateral vein. The device was programmed in a conventional biventricular pacing mode and retested prior to hospital discharge.

Endpoints

Primary endpoint was reverse remodelling defined as at least 15% reduction in LV end-systolic volume (ESV) indexed to body surface area at 6 (7 ± 1) months follow-up. Reverse remodelling was chosen as it provides both a qualitative and quantitative endpoint, can be acquired in almost all patients, and is closely related to mortality.¹⁵ To optimize precision, all volumes were measured independently in three different centres (Rennes, Leuven, and Oslo) and a majority decision was used in cases of disagreement on response. The pre-specified secondary endpoint was death at 12 months after CRT, but follow-up was extended and heart transplantation included to increase the number of events. Therefore, secondary endpoint was heart transplantation or death of any cause at 35 ± 11 (interquartile range 14) months after CRT implantation. As another measure of clinical response,¹⁶ we assessed improvement in Packer clinical composite score¹⁷ at 6 months.

Statistical analysis

All analyses involving myocardial scar were confined to the group of patients undergoing LGE-CMR. Values are presented as mean \pm

	All patients (n = 200)	Responders (n = 135)	Non-responders (n = 65)	P-value		
Age (years)	67±11	68±11	65 ± 11	0.041		
Gender (%)						
Male	71	65	83	0.009		
Weight (kg)	79 ± 16	75 ± 14	85 ± 17	<0.001		
Heart failure aetiology (%)						
Non-ischaemic	65	76	43	<0.001		
lschaemic	35	24	57	<0.001		
Medication (%)						
ACE-inhibitor/ARB	95	97	89	0.023		
Beta-blocker	90	89	92	0.450		
Aldosterone antagonists	41	39	46	0.304		
Diuretics	71	69	77	0.263		
Rhythm (%)						
Sinus	82	86	72	0.020		
Atrial fibrillation	6	4	8	0.345		
Paced	13	11	20	0.041		
QRS configuration (%)						
LBBB	86	90	78	0.033		
Non-LBBB	14	10	22	0.033		
QRS duration (ms)	167±21	168±19	166 ± 24	0.497		
Upgrades (%)	22	16	35	0.002		
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	124 ± 21	126 ± 21	119 ± 20	0.020		
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	69 ± 11	70 ± 12	68 ± 10	0.318		
NYHA functional class	2.4 ± 0.6	2.3 ± 0.6	2.5 ± 0.6	0.030		
Mitral regurgitation (0–3)	1.2 ± 0.8	1.1 ± 0.8	1.4 ± 0.9	0.053		

Table IBaseline characteristics

 $Continuous \ variables \ are \ given \ as \ mean \ \pm \ standard \ deviation. \ P-value \ for \ comparison \ of \ responders \ vs. \ non-responders.$

ACE-inhibitor, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor; ARB, angiotensin II receptor blocker; LBBB, left bundle branch block; NYHA, New York Heart Association.

standard deviation or confidence intervals (Cls). Comparisons between two groups were performed using Student's t-test or chi-square test as appropriate. Univariate and multivariate linear regression analyses were used to identify predictors of reverse remodelling. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves with area under the curve (AUC) values were used to determine discriminative ability. To combine assessment of two parameters, we used logistic regression to calculate a linear combination of the parameters, which was then used for ROC curves. The DeLong method or, when more appropriate, the Hanley and McNeil method (both MedCalc Software 2019) were used to compare ROC curves. Survival data are presented as hazard ratios (Cox regression) and Kaplan-Meier curves with log-rank test. As input, we used cut-off values from the primary endpoint analysis. Bland-Altman plot, Pearson correlation coefficient, intra-class correlation coefficient (ICC), and Cohen's kappa were used for reproducibility. If not otherwise stated, P < 0.05 was considered significant and IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 25.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp was used for analysis.

Reproducibility

Excellent intra- and interobserver reproducibility for myocardial work has been reported previously.⁵ Intercentre variability for myocardial work, septal flash, and apical rocking was studied in 38 randomly selected patients.

Results

At 6 months follow-up, there were three deaths, one heart transplantation and one LV assist device implantation, and these five patients were considered non-responders. The primary endpoint of \geq 15% reduction in LV ESV index was achieved in 135 of 195 remaining patients, which gives 68% responder rate to CRT. Among responders, there were more females, patients in sinus rhythm and patients with non-ischaemic cardiomyopathy and a lower number of upgrades compared with non-responders (*Table 1*).

At follow-up, LVEF, GLS, and global work improved substantially in responders, while in non-responders there were no significant changes (*Figure 1A and B*, Supplementary material online, *Tables S1* and S2).

The *Take home figure* is from a CRT responder with characteristic large lateral wall-to-septal work difference and viable septal myocardium. Prior to CRT, this patient has LV contraction pattern typical for LBBB with highly inefficient septal contractions due to substantial negative work, which was converted to positive work with CRT. The figure also illustrates how CRT reduced workload on the LW. Figure 2 shows a non-responder with essentially similar echocardiographic findings prior to CRT, but with significant septal scar indicating limited potential for septal



Take home figure Left ventricular work asymmetry combined with septal viability identifies cardiac resynchronization therapy responders. (A–Q) The panels are from the same patient and illustrate how the lateral-to-septal work difference is used in combination with viability by LGE-CMR to identify cardiac resynchronization therapy responders. Before cardiac resynchronization therapy (A) there is dominantly negative septal work, as indicated by the red-coloured pressure-strain loop area, but compensatory increase in left ventricular lateral wall work, which gives a large lateral-to-septal work difference. Viable septum (B) indicates potential for recovery of septal function. After 6 months with cardiac resynchronization therapy (C), there is fine recovery of septal function. The highly inefficient septal contractions before cardiac resynchronization therapy are converted to positive work throughout systole. The improvement in septal function was accompanied by reduced workload on the lateral wall. (D) ROC curve displaying combined assessment of work difference and septal viability for cardiac resynchronization therapy response prediction (n = 123). AUC, area under curve; AVC, aortic valve closure; CI, confidence interval; LGE-CMR, late gadolinium enhancement cardiac magnetic resonance; LVP, left ventricular pressure; ROC, receiver operating characteristic.

recovery. Following CRT, there was only a moderate improvement of septal function.

Left ventricular work asymmetry

Large baseline LW-S work difference was associated with good CRT response both in the whole study population (*Figure 1B*) and when excluding patients with septal or LW scars. Univariate analysis revealed a direct relation between LW-S work difference and reverse remodelling (r = 0.44, P < 0.0001), where larger work difference was associated with more extensive reverse remodelling (*Figure 3*). Furthermore, in multivariate analysis, work difference together with heart failure aetiology (ischaemic or non-ischaemic) and QRS duration, but not QRS morphology (LBBB or non-LBBB), were independent predictors of reverse remodelling (P < 0.0001 for work difference) (*Table 2*). Work difference was somewhat larger in non-

ischaemic as compared with ischaemic patients (1349 ± 702 vs. 955 ± 887 mmHg·%, P < 0.001).

AUC for LW-S work difference as predictor of CRT response in the entire study population was 0.77 (95% CI: 0.70–0.84) and was similar in the subgroup of patients with sinus rhythm and nonischaemic aetiology. In comparison, AUC for QRS morphology (LBBB or non-LBBB) as predictor of CRT response was 0.56 (95% CI: 0.47–0.64) and for QRS duration 0.54 (95% CI: 0.45–0.63). Work difference \geq 860 mmHg.% showed accuracy of 75% (95% CI: 68–81) for CRT response (*Figure 4A*, Supplementary material online, *Table* S3) and was a predictor of reduced risk for heart transplantation or death at long-term follow-up [hazard ratio 0.36 (95% CI: 0.18–0.74)] (*Figure 5A*). Furthermore, work difference was an independent predictor of improved Packer clinical composite score (Supplementary







Figure 2 Septal scar identifies non-responder to cardiac resynchronization therapy. (A) Strain traces (left), pressure-strain loops (middle), and regional work (right) in a representative non-responder (with non-ischaemic cardiomyopathy) prior to cardiac resynchronization therapy. Similar to the patient in the *Take home figure*, there are highly inefficient septal contractions with predominantly negative work (red-coloured pressure-strain loop area), which leads to a large lateral-to-septal work difference. (B) LGE-CMR revealed extensive septal scar with limited potential for recovery of septal function with cardiac resynchronization therapy. (*C*) After 6 months with cardiac resynchronization therapy, there is only moderate recovery of septal function and, despite reduced workload on the left ventricular lateral wall, still significant lateral-to-septal work difference. AVC, aortic valve closure; LGE-CMR, late gadolinium enhancement cardiac magnetic resonance; LVP, left ventricular pressure.



Figure 3 Regional work and reverse remodelling. Lateral-to-septal work difference correlates with degree of reverse remodelling following cardiac resynchronization therapy. The black-dotted line represents 15% reduction in left ventricular end-systolic volume index, whereas the red-dotted line represents the proposed cut-off value for work difference of 860 mmHg.%. LW-S, lateral-to-septal.

material online, *Table S4*). Assessment of work difference was feasible in 195 patients (98% feasibility).

Scar

LGE-CMR was performed in 125 patients, in whom scar was present in 61. Forty-six patients had some degree of scar in the anterior wall, 57 in the septum, 55 in the inferior wall, and 37 in the LW (Supplementary material online, *Table S5*). In univariate analysis, there was inverse correlation between total scar burden and reverse remodelling (r = -0.54, P < 0.0001).

Multivariate analysis including the percentage of anterior, septal, inferior, and lateral scar revealed that septal scar was a significant predictor of reverse remodelling (*Table 3*). Furthermore, the presence of any scar in the septum showed sensitivity of 81% (95% CI: 63–93) for non-response to CRT. AUC was 0.79 (95% CI: 0.69–0.89) (Supplementary material online, *Figure S2*).

Combining work and viability

There was inverse correlation between LW-S work difference and total scar burden (r = -0.43, P < 0.0001). In multivariate analysis including percentage of septal scar, LW-S work difference, QRS duration, and QRS morphology, only septal scar and work difference were significant predictors of reverse remodelling (both P < 0.0002) (*Table 4*). Furthermore, septal scar and work difference showed significant incremental value to a multivariate model for CRT response including QRS duration, heart failure aetiology and LV ESV index. In patients with septal scars, there was less improvement in septal work with CRT as compared to patients without scar (P < 0.001).

AUC for combined assessment of septal viability and LW-S work difference for CRT response prediction was 0.88 (95% CI: 0.81–0.95) (*Figure 4B*), which was significantly better than work difference alone (P < 0.02). The proposed cut-off value for the combined approach (*Figure 4B*) provided 86% sensitivity, 84% specificity, and 85% accuracy for CRT response and was a strong predictor of reduced risk for heart transplantation or death at long-term follow-up [hazard ratio

 Table 2
 Multivariate linear regression analysis with left ventricular end-systolic volume reduction as dependent variable

Regression variable	В	VIF	95% CI	P-value
Constant term	22.3			
QRS morphology	4.67	1.09	-4.65 to 13.99	0.324
QRS duration	-0.165	1.00	-0.317 to -0.014	0.033
Heart failure aetiology	-15.9	1.07	-22.6 to -9.3	<0.0001
LW-S work difference	-0.011	1.15	-0.015 to -0.007	<0.0001

 $N = 190. R^2 = 0.29.$

CI, confidence interval; LW-S, lateral wall-to-septal; VIF, variance inflation factors.

0.21 (95% Cl: 0.072–0.61)] (Figure 5B). Combined assessment of work and viability significantly predicted improvement in Packer clinical composite score.

Alternative approaches

Septal flash, apical rocking, and systolic stretch index predicted CRT response with AUC 0.74 (95% CI: 0.66–0.82), 0.75 (95% CI: 0.68–0.83), and 0.73 (95% CI: 0.66–0.81), respectively. There was no significant difference when comparing the ROC curve for LW-S work difference with septal flash and apical rocking. Compared with systolic stretch index, however, work difference was superior (P < 0.05). LW-S work difference combined with septal viability was superior to both septal flash, apical rocking and systolic stretch index (all P < 0.025).

Intermediate QRS duration

A total of 44 patients had QRS duration 120–150 ms (including three patients with QRS 120–129 ms), and 25 of these responded to CRT. In multivariate analysis (n = 43) including QRS duration and heart failure aetiology, LW-S work difference was the only significant predictor of reverse remodelling (P < 0.02). AUC for LW-S work difference was 0.82 (95% CI: 0.68–0.95).

For patients with QRS duration 120–150 ms undergoing LGE-CMR (n = 27), AUC for the combined assessment of septal viability and work difference was 0.91 (95% CI: 0.81–1.00).

Reproducibility

Bland–Altman and linear regression plots for intercentre variability of LW-S work difference are displayed in Supplementary material online, *Figure S3*. The ICC between the three centres was 0.89 (95% CI: 0.82–0.94) for septal work, 0.92 (95% CI: 0.88–0.96) for LW work, and 0.90 (95% CI: 0.84–0.94) for LW-S work difference, indicating good reproducibility. Furthermore, average intercentre agreement for work difference \geq 860 mmHg·% was 89% (kappa range 0.65–0.85). Average intercentre agreement for presence of septal flash was 68% (kappa range 0.16–0.46) and for apical rocking 70% (kappa range 0.25–0.69).



Figure 4 Work asymmetry and septal viability as predictors of cardiac resynchronization therapy response. (A) Receiver operating characteristic curve displaying lateral-to-septal work difference as predictor of cardiac resynchronization therapy response in the entire study population (n = 195). (B) Receiver operating characteristic curve displaying the combined assessment of lateral-to-septal work difference and septal viability as predictor of cardiac resynchronization therapy.



Figure 5 Association of work asymmetry and septal viability with long-term survival. (A) Kaplan–Meier curve stratified according to the proposed cut-off value for lateral-to-septal work difference. (B) Kaplan–Meier curve stratified according to the proposed cut-off value for lateral-to-septal work difference combined with septal viability.

Table 3Multivariate linear regression analysis withleft ventricular end-systolic volume reduction as de-pendent variable

Regression variable	В	VIF	95% CI	P-value
Constant term	-40.0			
Anterior wall scar	0.31	2.87	-0.05 to 0.66	0.088
Septal scar	0.42	3.17	0.04 to 0.80	0.029
Inferior wall scar	0.11	3.09	-0.22 to 0.45	0.503
Lateral wall scar	0.12	2.94	-0.21 to 0.45	0.479

N = 122, $R^2 = 0.33$. Regional scar was given as a continuous variable (%). CI, confidence interval; VIF, variance inflation factors.

Discussion

The present multicentre study extends previous smaller studies on myocardial work and presents the novel finding that quantification of myocardial work by echocardiography in combination with viability by LGE-CMR accurately identifies patients who will respond to CRT with reverse LV remodelling and predicts long-term survival after CRT. The patient population represented all-comers referred for CRT, including upgrades from other pacemaker devices, atrial fibrillation and patients with poor echocardiographic image quality. When septal work was markedly reduced relative to LW work and septal myocardium was viable, the responder rate was high. When there was reduced septal work and septal function, the patients were unlikely to respond. Importantly, precision was very good in the subgroup of patients with QRS duration 120–150 ms where recommendation for CRT is weaker or even absent according to current guidelines.²

Work and viability

The work method provides a more comprehensive measure of contractile function than just measuring tissue velocities or strain since it incorporates the effect of abnormal regional loading conditions during dyssynchrony. The work method also provides a measure of contractile efficiency since both the positive and negative (wasted) work are taken into account. A variable degree of systolic lengthening is common in LBBB and reflects inefficient contractions where the septum absorbs energy as a result of contractions in the LV free wall. The work method incorporates this important feature of dyssynchrony.

It is well-known that total myocardial scar burden and, in particular, scars located in the LV posterolateral wall are associated with non-response to CRT.⁶ The latter is believed to be caused by inefficient pacing delivery. Furthermore, as shown in a recent study from our group, LW scar tends to normalize septal contraction pattern in hearts with LBBB.¹⁸ This reflects that systolic stretch and contractile inefficiency of the septum in LBBB is caused by vigorous contractions in the LW. Therefore, when there is reduced LW function, there is less impairment of septal function and therefore less potential for improvement with CRT.

The observation in the present study that septal scar is a predictor of non-response to CRT is in keeping with a small study of 23 patients who received CRT.¹⁹ In our study, the presence of septal scar alone

Table 4 Multivariate linear regression analysis with left ventricular end-systolic volume reduction as dependent variable

Regression variable	В	VIF	95% CI	P-value
Constant term	-1.15			
QRS morphology	8.70	1.13	-4.36 to 21.77	0.190
QRS duration	-0.15	1.07	-0.36 to 0.06	0.167
LW-S work difference	-0.009	1.13	-0.014 to -0.005	< 0.0002
Septal scar	0.56	1.11	0.35 to 0.78	<0.0001

N = 121. $R^2 = 0.40$. Septal scar was given as a continuous variable (%). CI, confidence interval; LW-S, lateral wall-to-septal; VIF, variance inflation factors.

identified non-responders with relatively high sensitivity. Since a contraction pattern with impaired septal function and preserved LW function may be seen also in patients with septal infarcts, viability imaging is essential.

Alternative approaches

Septal flash, apical rocking, and systolic stretch in the septum and LW are well-known features of mechanical dyssynchrony, which have been shown to predict response and mortality in observational studies of CRT recipients.^{12,13} An advantage of septal flash and apical rocking is the quick visual assessment on echocardiographic B-mode images, but their qualitative nature is a limitation. In a previous retrospective study, septal flash and apical rocking were combined with visual echocardiographic assessment of scar burden to optimize response prediction, and results were promising.¹² However, as indicated in the intercentre variability analysis, visual assessment of septal flash and apical rocking showed considerable variability which could depend on degree of training of the observers. It is likely that reproducibility of these methods can be improved by standardization of the diagnostic criteria and dedicated training. The systolic stretch index is based on myocardial strain and provides a quantitative assessment of dyssynchrony, but does not incorporate afterload. Taking into account results from the present and previous studies, it is likely that these parameters and myocardial work reflect the same phenomenon; i.e. the abnormal and inefficient septal contraction pattern during LBBB.

Clinical implications

The combined approach of work and viability offers a new, precise, and relatively simple approach for selection of CRT candidates. Myocardial work difference can be measured by acquisition of the apical four-chamber view only which can be obtained in nearly all patients. The addition of CMR represents an additional cost, but a large number of centres already perform LGE-CMR as routine investigation prior to CRT to avoid placing the LV lead in a scar. If CMR is not available, myocardial work difference may be useful as a standalone tool. Due to higher number of non-responders, the proposed approach appears especially valuable for patients with ischaemic cardiomyopathy and/or intermediate QRS duration.

Limitations

In a substantial number of patients, LGE-CMR is not feasible due to previous pacemaker device. This will be easier with wider use of CMR compatible devices.

Data on LV lead position were not available and may have provided additional insights.

The use of non-invasive LVP based on average brachial cuff pressure represents a limitation in patients with atrial fibrillation where LVP varies substantially from beat to beat. Furthermore, using pressure as a substitute for force in the work calculation represents a limitation to the methodology. It has previously been demonstrated, however, that the impact of such limitation is minor in LBBB.⁵

The present study was observational with a limited number of patients and the primary endpoint was reverse remodelling. Hence, there is need for a larger randomized trial with primarily clinical endpoints before considering to change clinical practice.

Conclusions

In the present study, assessment of LV function as the LW-S work difference by echocardiography identified CRT responders with good accuracy. When combining work difference with septal viability by CMR, the accuracy to identify CRT responders was further improved. Thus, marked work asymmetry with reduced septal function, but preserved septal viability, identified a contractile reserve which was activated by CRT.

Supplementary material

Supplementary material is available at European Heart Journal online.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank Drs Per Anton Sirnes, Jørg Saberniak, Erik Lyseggen, and Study Nurse Kari Melberg for their valuable contributions to the study.

Funding

The study was supported by Center for Cardiological Innovation. J.M.A. was supported by a grant from the Norwegian Health Association. C.K.L. was recipient of a clinical research fellowship from the South-Eastern Norway Regional Health Authority. The study and J.D. were supported by a research grant of the University Leuven (OT12/084). J.-U.V. holds a research mandate of the Research Foundation Flanders (FKM1832917N).

Conflict of interest: O.A.S. is co-inventor, but since May 24, 2017 no financial relations to the patent 'Method for myocardial segment work analysis', which was used to calculate myocardial work. The other authors report no conflicts.

References

- Chung ES, Leon AR, Tavazzi L, Sun JP, Nihoyannopoulos P, Merlino J, Abraham WT, Ghio S, Leclercq C, Bax JJ, Yu CM, Gorcsan J 3rd, St John Sutton M, De Sutter J, Murillo J. Results of the predictors of response to CRT (PROSPECT) trial. *Circulation* 2008;**117**:2608–2616.
- Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD, Bueno H, Cleland JGF, Coats AJS, Falk V, Gonzalez-Juanatey JR, Harjola VP, Jankowska EA, Jessup M, Linde C, Nihoyannopoulos P, Parissis JT, Pieske B, Riley JP, Rosano GMC, Ruilope LM, Ruschitzka F, Rutten FH, van der Meer P. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis

and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: the Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Developed with special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. *Eur Heart J* 2016;**37**:2129–2200.

- Vernooy K, Cornelussen RNM, Verbeek X, Vanagt WYR, van Hunnik A, Kuiper M, Arts T, Crijns H, Prinzen FW. Cardiac resynchronization therapy cures dyssynchronopathy in canine left bundle-branch block hearts. *Eur Heart J* 2007;28: 2148–2155.
- Prinzen FW, Augustijn CH, Allessie MA, Arts T, Delhass T, Reneman RS. The time sequence of electrical and mechanical activation during spontaneous beating and ectopic stimulation. *Eur Heart J* 1992;13:535–543.
- Russell K, Eriksen M, Aaberge L, Wilhelmsen N, Skulstad H, Remme EW, Haugaa KH, Opdahl A, Fjeld JG, Gjesdal O, Edvardsen T, Smiseth OA. A novel clinical method for quantification of regional left ventricular pressure-strain loop area: a non-invasive index of myocardial work. *Eur Heart J* 2012;**33**:724–733.
- Bleeker GB, Kaandorp TA, Lamb HJ, Boersma E, Steendijk P, de Roos A, van der Wall EE, Schalij MJ, Bax JJ. Effect of posterolateral scar tissue on clinical and echocardiographic improvement after cardiac resynchronization therapy. *Circulation* 2006;**113**:969–976.
- Vecera J, Penicka M, Eriksen M, Russell K, Bartunek J, Vanderheyden M, Smiseth OA. Wasted septal work in left ventricular dyssynchrony: a novel principle to predict response to cardiac resynchronization therapy. *Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging* 2016;**17**:624–632.
- Galli E, Leclercq C, Hubert A, Bernard A, Smiseth OA, Mabo P, Samset E, Hernandez A, Donal E. Role of myocardial constructive work in the identification of responders to CRT. *Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging* 2018;**19**:1010–1018.
- 9. Brignole M, Auricchio A, Baron-Esquivias G, Bordachar P, Boriani G, Breithardt O-A, Cleland J, Deharo J-C, Delgado V, Elliott PM, Gorenek B, Israel CW, Leclercq C, Linde C, Mont L, Padeletti L, Sutton R, Vardas PE. 2013 ESC Guidelines on cardiac pacing and cardiac resynchronization therapy: the Task Force on cardiac pacing and resynchronization therapy of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Developed in collaboration with the European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA). *Eur Heart J* 2013;**34**:2281–2329.
- Parsai C, Bijnens B, Sutherland GR, Baltabaeva A, Claus P, Marciniak M, Paul V, Scheffer M, Donal E, Derumeaux G, Anderson L. Toward understanding response to cardiac resynchronization therapy: left ventricular dyssynchrony is only one of multiple mechanisms. *Eur Heart J* 2009;**30**:940–949.
- Voigt JU, Schneider TM, Korder S, Szulik M, Gurel E, Daniel WG, Rademakers F, Flachskampf FA. Apical transverse motion as surrogate parameter to determine regional left ventricular function inhomogeneities: a new, integrative approach to left ventricular asynchrony assessment. *Eur Heart J* 2008;**30**:959–968.
- Stankovic I, Prinz C, Ciarka A, Daraban AM, Kotrc M, Aarones M, Szulik M, Winter S, Belmans A, Neskovic AN, Kukulski T, Aakhus S, Willems R, Fehske W, Penicka M, Faber L, Voigt J-U. Relationship of visually assessed apical rocking and septal flash to response and long-term survival following cardiac resynchronization therapy (PREDICT-CRT). *Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging* 2016;**17**:262–269.
- Gorcsan J 3rd, Anderson CP, Tayal B, Sugahara M, Walmsley J, Starling RC, Lumens J. Systolic stretch characterizes the electromechanical substrate responsive to cardiac resynchronization therapy. *JACC Cardiovasc Imaging* 2019;**12**: 1741–1752.
- 14. Engblom H, Tufvesson J, Jablonowski R, Carlsson M, Aletras AH, Hoffmann P, Jacquier A, Kober F, Metzler B, Erlinge D, Atar D, Arheden H, Heiberg E. A new automatic algorithm for quantification of myocardial infarction imaged by late gadolinium enhancement cardiovascular magnetic resonance: experimental validation and comparison to expert delineations in multi-center, multi-vendor patient data. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson 2016;18:27.
- Gold MR, Daubert C, Abraham WT, Ghio S, St John Sutton M, Hudnall JH, Cerkvenik J, Linde C. The effect of reverse remodeling on long-term survival in mildly symptomatic patients with heart failure receiving cardiac resynchronization therapy: results of the REVERSE study. *Heart Rhythm* 2015;**12**:524–530.
- Daubert C, Behar N, Martins RP, Mabo P, Leclercq C. Avoiding non-responders to cardiac resynchronization therapy: a practical guide. *Eur Heart J* 2017;38: 1463–1472.
- Packer M. Proposal for a new clinical end point to evaluate the efficacy of drugs and devices in the treatment of chronic heart failure. J Card Fail 2001;7:176–182.
- Aalen JM, Remme EW, Larsen CK, Andersen OS, Krogh M, Duchenne J, Hopp E, Ross S, Beela AS, Kongsgaard E, Bergsland J, Odland HH, Skulstad H, Opdahl A, Voigt JU, Smiseth OA. Mechanism of abnormal septal motion in left bundle branch block: role of left ventricular wall interactions and myocardial scar. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 2019;**12**:2402–2413.
- White JA, Yee R, Yuan X, Krahn A, Skanes A, Parker M, Klein G, Drangova M. Delayed enhancement magnetic resonance imaging predicts response to cardiac resynchronization therapy in patients with intraventricular dyssynchrony. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006;48:1953–1960.

Sammendrag

Venstre grenblokk betyr brudd i venstre hovedgren i hjertets spesialiserte ledningssystem slik at elektrisk aktivering av store deler av venstre ventrikkel istedenfor må skje gjennom vanlig myokard og derfor blir forsinket. Dette fører til usynkrone kontraksjoner (dyssynkroni) med negative effekter på venstre ventrikkels funksjon. Det typiske kontraksjonsmønsteret består av abnorm og dysfunksjonell bevegelse i det tidlig aktiverte interventrikulære septum med samtidig kompensatorisk hyperfunksjon i den sent aktiverte lateralveggen. Dette medfører en asymmetrisk arbeidsfordeling hvor septum gjør lite arbeid og lateralveggen mer enn normalt. Grenblokk kan oppstå både i pasienter med underliggende hjertesykdom og hos pasienter som er ellers friske. Tidligere var hovedoppfatningen at venstre grenblokk bestandig var en markør for underliggende hjertesykdom uavhengig av om denne var erkjent, og ikke en årsak til hjertesykdom i seg selv. Det har i senere år kommet flere bevis for at venstre grenblokk i seg selv kan føre til hjertesvikt, men de nøyaktige mekanismene og risikofaktorer for dette er ikke klarlagt. Videre er pasienter med venstre grenblokk, ejeksjonsfraksjon ≤35% og hjertesviktsymptomer kandidater for kardial resynkroniseringsterapi i henhold til gjeldende retningslinjer. Det er imidlertid en vedvarende utfordring at rundt en tredjedel av pasientene som får resynkroniseringsterapi ikke responderer på behandlingen.

I denne avhandlingen har vi studert venstre ventrikkels funksjon ved venstre grenblokk alene, og kombinert med iskemi, arr og økt afterload. Hensikten har vært å øke forståelsen av venstre grenblokks påvirkning på ventrikkelfunksjonen og spesielt mekanismene bak septal dysfunksjon. Ved hjelp av eksperimentelle dyreforsøk har vi kunnet måle den direkte effekten av iskemi og afterload, mens vi ved hjelp av kliniske studier har kunnet vise hvordan disse effektene gjør seg gjeldende hos pasienter. Videre har vi brukt innsikt i venstre grenblokks mekaniske påvirkning på hjertet til å predikere respons til kardial resynkroniseringsterapi i en prospektiv multisenterstudie. For å studere regional hjertefunksjon mer nøyaktig, har vi brukt et nytt ekkokardiografisk verktøy som beregner segmentalt arbeid i venstre ventrikkel, mens MR med gadolinium kontrast har blitt brukt til å vurdere arr.

Avhandlingen er basert på tre artikler. I den første har vi sett på effekten av økt afterload i hjerter med venstre grenblokk og normal ejeksjonsfraksjon. Hovedfunnet er at pasienter med venstre grenblokk er hypersensitive til akutt moderat stigning i blodtrykk da de reagerte med et langt mer uttalt fall i ejeksjonsfraksjon enn en alderssvarende kontrollgruppe. Hovedmekanismen for det uttalte fallet i ejeksjonsfraksjon så ut til være økende septal dysfunksjon, noe som ble bekreftet i den eksperimentelle delen av studien. Selv om studien var liten (11 personer i hver gruppe) og kun så på akutt stigning i blodtrykk, impliserer den at pasienter med grenblokk kan være mer sensitive også for kronisk trykkbelastning som ved arteriell hypertensjon eller aortastenose. Det er behov for videre studier for å avklare om hypertensjon og aortastenose er spesielt disponerende for utvikling av hjertesvikt i venstre grenblokkspasienter og om dette eventuelt bør ha behandlingsmessige konsekvenser.

I artikkel nummer 2 studerte vi effekten av redusert septal- og lateralveggskontraktilitet på arbeidsfordelingen og spesielt septumfunksjonen i hjerter med venstre grenblokk. Hovedfunnet er at gode kontraksjoner i lateralveggen er en nødvendig forutsetning for septal dysfunksjon i venstre grenblokk. Ved å påføre lateralveggsiskemi i den eksperimentelle modellen, viste vi at den abnorme septumbevegelsen forsvant og at septumfunksjonen ble markant forbedret. Funnet ble bekreftet i pasienter med større lateralveggsarr og impliserer at de negative effektene av dyssynkroni er mindre uttalt i slike pasienter. Dette kan muligens bidra til å forklare at resynkroniseringsterapi fungerer dårligere i pasienter med lateralveggsarr.

I artikkel nummer 3 testet vi ut om asymmetrisk arbeidsfordeling i hjertet hos pasienter med venstre grenblokk kunne predikere respons til resynkroniseringsterapi. Vi utførte en prospektiv multisenterstudie med 200 pasienter fra fem ulike europeiske universitetssykehus. Primært endepunkt var respons til resynkroniseringsterapi definert som revers remodellering av venstre ventrikkel ved seks måneders oppfølging. Hovedhypotesen var at resynkroniseringsterapi kunne gjenopprette septal funksjon gitt at den reduserte septale funksjonen skyldes grenblokk og ikke arr. Vi brukte ekkokardiografi til å beregne arbeidet i septum og lateralveggen, og MR (n=125) til å påvise eventuelle septale arr. Hovedfunnet var at den asymmetriske fordelingen av arbeid mellom septum og lateralveggen predikerte CRT respons relativt godt med areal under kurven (AUC) 0.77, mens kombinasjonen av arbeid og septalt arr var signifikant bedre med en AUC på 0.88. Det kan spesielt nevnes at AUC-verdiene var tilsvarende i undergruppen av pasienter med intermediær QRS-varighet hvor indikasjonen for resynkroniseringsterapi er mer usikker i henhold til retningslinjer. Både arbeid alene og i kombinasjon med arr predikterte overlevelse uten hjertetransplantasjon.

Totalt sett viser funnene i denne avhandlingen at den asymmetriske arbeidsfordelingen i venstre ventrikkel med septal dysfunksjon og kompensatorisk hyperfunksjon i lateralveggen er en sentral mekanisme for den negative effekten av venstre grenblokk, og at utjevning av regionalt arbeid med gjenopprettelse av septumfunksjonen er et viktig mål for resynkroniseringsterapi. Dette kan forklare at pasienter med store septale og laterale arr har mindre gevinst av resynkroniseringsterapi. Videre indikerer funnene at grenblokkspasienter er sårbare for økning i blodtrykk som muligens kan bidra til å forklare hvorfor en del pasienter med grenblokk utvikler hjertesvikt.